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For the fiscal years ended December 31

dollars in thousands) 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Revenue 225,756  $227362 $218,059 $176362 $133.567
Cash and Cash Equivalents 88,803 71,877 77,372 65,174 42,170
Total Assets 188,478 166,483 175,903 124,720 81,831
Working Capital 78,088 84,989 113,738 78,131 50,608
Shareholders’ Equity 148,759 128,847 153,298 101118 61,049
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Leadership, Vision, snd Innovation

For more than 16 years, Bendrite has been helping the world's leading pharmaceutical and other lite science companies compete effectively
in challenging, changing, and diverse environments. Dendrite’s software and service solutions enhance clients’ sales, marketing, and clinical
processes, and enable the industry to better manage information, extract business intelligence, direct sales and marketing operations, and
utilize their field forces. In each and every case, our clients recognize a positive return on their investment and are better able to achieve
their strategic initiatives.

Dendrite’s core strength remains its combination of industry knowledge and technology expertise that ultimately enables companies to deliver
true value to their customers. Using our solutions, clients can safely and expeditiously conduct clinical trials to bring products to market more
quickly, provide timely and valuable information to targeted customers via their sales forces; properly deploy, realign, and manage these
field forces; conduct home office-led initiatives—including all aspects of saumple management—and meet federal compliance regulations.
Through our data, call, and hardware service centers, as well as other specialized support services, Dendrite ensures that clients maximize
the productivity of both their technology and human resources by remaining fully operational at all times.

Brozdening Horizons

In 2002, Dendrite acquired Software Associates International (SAl), the industry’s leading provider of solutions for headquarters-based
personnel. This added significant expertise in the areas of field sales force management and regulatory compliance, which is increasingly
demanded by the industry, and defined our entry into this important growth sector of the market. Shortly after the acquisition, a top-tier
pharmaceutical company utilizing a third-party Sales Force Automation (SFA) system validated the value proposition of our acquisition by
choosing to implement SAl's home office products on a national basis.

To give our European clients more powertul market insight in increasingly competitive markets, we also acquired Pharma Vision, a privately
held company based in Belgium and the Netherlands that offers marketing research and consultancy services to more than 30 companies.
Using Pharma Vision's rich database ot prescriber behavior, Dendrite can provide deep levels of market analyses that companies increasingly
need to better aliocate resources and measure the results of promotional activities.

Dendrite has also continued to execute other aspects of its global business strategy. For those markets where Dendrite does not have an
existing sales presence, the company is actively partnering with strong local vendors to deliver regional and global sales and marketing
solutions for multinational clients.

Strengthening Management

To serve the strategic interests of the company and its clients, Dendrite constantly invests in training and developing its people. Kathy Donovan
was promoted from Treasurer to Chief Financial Officer to maintain consistent and strong financial leadership. Natasha Gierdano was
named Corporate Vice President to provide additional senior-level support and expertise to a number of global customers. Through our SA|
acquisition, we gained additional experienced executive management—including Sheli Gupta and Derek Evans—in the development of
home office solutions.

Leveraging Flexibility

Dendrite has leveraged its expertise to integrate its applications with clients’ third-party and internally developed apptlications, further permitting
them to expand their capabilities while rapidly and cost-eftectively working within their existing system framework. Dendrite also works with
companies to develop an integrated technology environment. In line with this approach, all of our offerings are now available on both an
insourced and outsourced basis.

Our flexibility also extends to the manner in which our solutions may be implemented. In 2002, we adopted an open business model that
lets clients use consulting partners of their choice when implementing our technology. This option preserves client preference relating to
their business partners while simultaneously expanding the scope of business available to us. As an additional attribute of this approach,
we have the capabilities to install, service, and support other manufacturers’ software offerings. This broadens our ability to partner with
a greater number of companies and meet their specific, diverse requirements.
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Expanding Internationally
While corporate revenues declined slightly in 2002 to $225.8 million, our SFA business maintained its market-leading position. Globally,
the company

= Signed 35 agreements with new clients
= Sold more than 13,000 new software licenses and

o Won approximately two out of every three SFA opportunities for which it competed.

Our North American SFA business was highlighted by a number of significant new initiatives with leading pharmaceutical companies.
For example,

o Merck selected a field sales channel management application for its U.S. sales force that Dendrite had custom-built to integrate with
its internal systems.

o Bristol-Myers Squibb partnered with Dendrite to conduct an innovative national e-learning initiative for its entire sales force.

In addition to its SFA business, Dendrite secured an increasing amount of new business beyond its traditional core competencies. In an
important eveolution of our business model, we began selling support services independently of our software products. Ethicon
Endo-Surgery, Inc., for example, is now using our help desk services to assist employees with third-party software packages and proprietary
Web-based applications, as well as our asset management services to maintain its hardware. As a growing number of companies
outsource various support services to better focus on their primary strategies, Dendrite is well-positioned to address this trend and capture
this additional business even from companies that do not use our core software solutions.

Seeking to gain clearer, deeper insight into prescriber behavior and product utilization trends through better analysis of market data,
a growing number of pharmaceutical companies began wtilizing our cutting-edge analytical services. Powered by our market-leading database
of fongitudinal prescription data, these services helped our clients conduct more focused research as well as targeted and timely promotional
initiatives. Meanwhile, Bendrite's clinical division increased its business by more than 40 percent, strengthening its relationship with one of
the world'’s largest pharmaceutical companies for whom it now supports more than 50 studies, 1,300 sites, and 5,000 clinical personnel. We
also won a contract with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration to assist with a national risk management and safety study.

As our clients increasingly make strategic decisions that affect their initiatives globally, Dendrite is responding with solutions and services
available on a broad geographic basis. Reflecting our ability to address this trend, our international operations remained robust,
particularly in the Asia/Pacific market. Last year, the number of regional users climbed to over 20,000, with the company successfully
implementing products in 15 distinct markets.

= In Japan, our total SFA market share rose to more than 30 percent.
o In Latin America, our client base grew to include 49 companies in 16 countries.

o In Europe and the United States, we introduced a powerful new suite of sales channel management applications designed for the
consumer goods industry.

Looking Ahead

Dendrite continues to strengthen and diversify its portfolio of offerings to meet the changing needs of our clients. We are proud of our
accomplishments in 16 years, and encouraged by the progress we made in 2002. In a year of worldwide economic and geopolitical uncertainty,
Dendrite demonstrated confidence through prudent acquisitions and a steadfast commitment to clients. Looking ahead, we believe that we
are well-positioned for long-term growth thanks to our distinguished executive team, talented employees, strong financial foundation, solid
client base, deep industry knowledge, and a growing array of leading-edge software and service solutions. Furthermore, we remain convinced
of our ability to continually meet the needs of those pharmaceutical and other life science companies that turn to Dendrite to help them
better manage all aspects of their strategic sales, marketing, and clinical initiatives.
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To perform zccurate snzlyses of |customers and market trends, phermaceutical| and u?heir' life scignce
companizss—nead =ncum—da.?a_m«.simg.,.ac,;unaie_an!rd_cumm_gusiQmer information, and timely-dats |
exchange. To meet these requirements, Dendrite’s soffware and service solutions structure, in?egr[am,
and “nanage dgata scross an entine enterpnise.

L S SN SN R— L L _
Effective Customer; Relationship Management (CRM] begins with effective information management. To help companiles manage ftheir
informlation—the lifeblood of the industry—Dendrite offers sales and marketing data dom!cin manogepent, including data domain

definition, master database design, and data integration|services. We also provide hosting services, transdction vclidati‘on, and custlomer
1—suppor—t—to—help—eompanies—eomply-wiih Preseription-Brug-MarketingtAct-(PBMA)-regulations: |

We start by providing clients with the ultimate in data storage services. From its state-of-the-art data center in Che%apecke, Virginia,

Dendrite currently supports 40 companies with a broad range of information hosting services| including computer ope:rctions, dc:talbase

administration, ard system cd+|n|§tfﬁtib‘n, :xlon‘g'w‘ith’p"dj'e’ct'm'dn‘dge’m‘e‘rit,"n’etwo'rL?ih'g','dn'd’té‘l’e?:'cim'mTIm;Eati’dﬁsﬂl!Us"tr'dtih‘g‘Diﬁw'd rite’s ]
significant investment in and commitment to information manogemerlwt support, the data center features 7 terabytes of storage as well
as three T3 and 132 T1 lines)| and processes more than 750,000 thost dial-in|calls each month. With ithis extraordinary bandwidth

capacity,-we-are_able-to-rapidly-transmit_large_volumes,of-client-data for_processing '

Dendrite now offers a powerful hew customer information management system, NUCLEUS Pharma™, whichilets users capture, centralize,

| 1 |

and manage customer-related information! Developed{by our SAl business unit, it's used |by a growing number of companies that

represent-more-than—14,000-sales-personnel-and-managers-and-gives-a-complete;-enterprise=wide-view-of ecch*o‘f-their-customers

based on internaliand external data sources. Using NUCLEUS Ph‘arma, companies have more precise, timely, cm:d comprehensive

information with which to make critical business decisions. 5

|

‘ information integrity is another key compone’i-nt of data management. Dendrite's complementary Vcliaa’ﬁ’“':da‘tﬁlecnsurg services create
; a brodder and deelper information management offering. By using these services, clients keep their data !clecm, up-to-date, and verified

| |

to ensure that only:client-defined customers are in their databases, repair incorrect or vacant information, remove duplicates, merge data,

. ! . . . . . L . ! . .
——and-validate-addr This-provides sclﬁsl forces-withsthe-most-accurate-and-current-information-at-their-fingertips:forming-the-basis-

for effective CRM and maximum competitive advantage in the field.

|
|
L

Over 40 expert data center technicians control 550 servers and operate 120 Oracle databases as they provide complete system administration,
such as monitoring, backup and recovery, and capacity planning.




Business Intelligence and An_a,liy"rics

Through analysis of anonymous longitudinal prescription data, ScripMaxIQ™ gives companies unparalleled levels of business
intelligence for making crucial sales and marketing decisions.
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| !
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Phar‘maceuﬂcal and ulher life science cnmpanles need soffware aspplications and support services

| ‘ : T ‘ l N

that meet ?he—umqueegusmess requnremen?ssnfﬁfhmr- seles, m.arkeﬂng, and .clinical - grganizations.

| l l

Dendrite's software anlj ser'wce sulu‘hons enable

clients ‘i'o effecrlvlely execul’e their s?r‘a‘legles in

| l

. ,
| | |
S I :

In the’ pnormoceullcal industry, it is mcreosnngly being recogmzed "{hat effective CRM S actually achieved through utilization ol_"bEjstiol-i T

these vital areas. ! ! ’
l l i

: |
breed” sales chonnel monager‘nenl‘ morketlng and soltware Opp|ICleIOﬂSI and support services. WebForce™ our flagship solution suite,
empowers sales representolives with the necessary résources to deliver real value to their customers It now includes )(tellig‘enlTM |

r—Bendrlte s-suite- of—XML based adaplors—elo seamlessly~l|nk to- cllenls ex«slmg applications and maximize- their current technology }
mveslmenls In 2002 we successfully integrated this s‘olullon with' Oracle’s 1ll E- Busmess suite and launched the first anolytlcally l

driven CRM solullon for the global pharmaceullcal and life sclence industry. Il combines our unparalleled industry knowledge and
I t

onalyllcol capobllltles with Cracle’s superlor mlormatlon architecture capabilities. : ‘ !
l l ' i

i
|
l Dendrite dlsllngwshes itself compellllvely by offering customlzed solutlons for companies operotmg in specmc regions of the world
{

.

For example we mtroduced a unigue verS|on of WebForce that addresses regienal busmess nuances in Europe For compames

|
with_smalier_budgets-and- fewer resources‘ _we_developedsWebForce_Express_._d rapldlysdeployable cosl eflectlve alternative with ..~

uncompromising lunctlonallty i ‘ : : : l ‘ 1
l |

l ' t

i
| l i ‘ i |
Dendrite’s new VlSlForce solutlon leads sales forces in developmg morkels thol are largely directed by home offices and require specml |

‘—vcuslomer ranking-capabilities- lo operate-eﬁecllvely A .lapon our- lradlllon of developlng cuttlng -edge- products foria- lechnologlcolly

; advanced market ¢continued W|lh the Iouncl‘ﬁ of web- bGSEdJ lorceMOBILE ™ ondJ lorceNET"”l solutions. They leature Dendrite’s unlque |
hybrld technology. for swrtchmg from on- ll‘ne to off- l|ne operating | imode, allowmg users lo access mlormatlon anyhme onywhere
Recenlly _we_ launched a swte of_applications_for_ reloll _sales ond morketmg units_ W|lh|n traditional. consumer_packaged goods
over-the- counler/consumer heallh care, ond generic pnormaceutlcal divisions. |

l . 3 l i
i ! l ‘ l » i ‘ : l ‘;
To accompany its solullons Dendrlle prowdes clients with superior support serv:ces that cllenls require - to make the most of soltware l

l

selullens ~These- lnclude lmplemenlatlon ond integration; ‘lools and- serwces along Wllh cuslom«consultmg—@ur clinical-capabilities- mclude—l

l

support of patient randomlzollon eleclronlc and mobile ;doto caplure and SEFIOUS adverse event reporting through global, mulllllngual

2477 help desks. We also dehver best-in- closs data hong lnlerocllve customer assistance, and asset manogemenl support. l
| | ' *

: The lull scope of ¢ our lralmng ond collaborative service c‘apobllltles [for Dendrlle‘l’lmrd -party, ond internal’ oppllcallons—wos showcosed
in 2002 when, together with antol -Myers Squibb (BMS), we conducted one of the most mnovallve learning |ml|dl|ves in the phormaceutlcal

! rndustry Rolling oul new hordware and so‘ltware solutu‘ons to an enhre sales lorce of nearly 4,000 sales representatlves and dlstrlct
' manogers Dendrlte -and- BMSIldeveloped a_web- bosed‘ _learning- ol[ternotlve _totraditional foce lo—loceslrommg - delsvered superlorfm,
knowledge relentlon and adoption with SIgnlllcanl cost savings, less time out of, terrltory and increased portrmpant sollsloctlon due to

l

mlnxmal dlsruptlon to personal schedules. This will bec‘ome the slandord for lurther enhancmg representatlve tralnmg and reducmg
e |

l l
| | | | |
Gomgllorward as Dendrite gludes cllents‘ through addmonal challenges ahead our umque comblnatlon of soflware and service

solullons will help componles deliver value to their customers increase sales, markellng ond clinical productw:ty and ultimately reallze

_costs | |n the pharmoceutlcol industry.
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l
the rewards_that CRM_offers. l l o l

Our Customer Service Representatives keep sales representatives, managers, and home office personnel {fully operational by giving
timely and accurate responses to support requests on proprietary, third-party, and Dendrite-developed software, while providing
tiered assistance for specialized products and functions.
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ITEM 1. Business.

General

Incorporated in 1987, Dendrite International, Inc. (collectively, with its subsidiaries, the “Company” or
“Dendrite”) was established to provide sales force automation solutions for the pharmaceutical industry. Since then,
Dendrite has broadened its offerings to include multiple sales and marketing solutions and related services to life
sciences clients. In 2002, with the strategic acquisition of Software Associates International (SAI), the Company
further expanded its offerings. They now comprise a broad array of knowledge-based, technology-driven solutions
that increase the effectiveness of sales, marketing, and clinical processes for pharmaceutical and other life sciences
clients and include: Customer Relationship Management (CRM) Solutions, Information Management, Business
Intelligence and Analytics, and Commercial Operations Management.

We believe that our extensive knowledge of the complex and unique selling processes in the life sciences
industry and our demonstrated ability to meet customers’ business needs have given us a strong position in our
target market. With sales representatives and managers from 50 countries and more than 150 companies using
Dendrite products and services, we are the world’s leading supplier of such solutions to the prescription-only
pharmaceutical industry. Cur customers include 19 of the world’s top 20 pharmaceutical companies. Our customers’
sales forces range in size from regional sales forces in developing markets around the world to those greater than
several thousand representatives in the United States.

Our solutions are highly configurable and designed to interface with other customer-facing software utilized
by life sciences manufacturers, including proprietary systems or those designed by Dendrite or third parties. Our
software products integrate and process large volumes of time-sensitive, sales-related data for use in developing
sales strategies and campaigns. Our solutions enable customers to maximize the return on investment related to
sales and promotional activities and improve operational profitability by allowing them to:

e centralize data to maintain a history of all contacts with each physician;
e analyze prescriber patterns to ensure delivery of the right message at the right time;
e provide integrated data from multiple sources quickly to direct individual sales representatives;

e share data among all company departments including other sales forces or execution channels interacting
with the same physician;

e realign sales territories and reallocate sales personnel on a customer or formulary basis;
e provide technical and support services to maximize the selling time of the sales representatives; and

e provide Internet-based training and support to minimize out-of-territory time of sales representatives and
significantly reduce trajning costs.

Our product offerings allow customers to select many different combinations of features for different types
of sales forces. Our software products typically do not require customization (i.e., modification of source code)
in order to be implemented; however; they are generally configured to address data, market, and other customer
requirements. Our product offerings also include configuration and administration tools that enable customers to
configure and administer several of our software products.

Dendrite also supplies solutions to manufacturers of consumer goods, with products targeted at manufacturers
whose sales representatives call on retail outlets. They enable sales representatives to manage all aspects of their
call-reporting obligations, including the collection of pricing, promotions, and product placement information. In
addition, our products also integrate sales information from a number of data sources. By using our products,
consumer goods manufacturers can measure the effect of promotional activities and effectively plan and execute
sales strategies in ways that bring them significant competitive benefits.

Principal Products

CRM Solutions. These include software and service solutions that enable customers to effectively execute
their sales and marketing strategies. They are designed to capture and provide information to personnel involved




in sales and sales management, marketing and to other levels within each client’s organization, including senior
management. These software products are described below.

WebForce™., A comprehensive suite of sales force tools with data sharing, analysis, and interfacing
capabilities, WebForce™ is intended to serve as the basis of the CRM environment for mid to large, national
or multinational pharmaceutical customers. With country-specific functionality, the WebForce™ product suite
offers a common architecture with interfaces that can be configured to support software solutions for every
user market within the pharmaceutical arena.

The WebForce™ product suite includes the following components:

e ForcePharma™. This desktop, laptop or tablet based solution is available in multiple configurations to
support a variety of field forces, including field sales, account sales, institution sales, managers, and home
office users, and can be additionally configured to address a customer’s specific business requirements.

ForceMobile™. This Windows CE™.-based handheld application provides functionality comparable to
many laptop applications at a reduced cost. It is optimized for growth-focused organizations of all sizes that
require greater portability, instant data access, and lower cost of hardware ownership.

ForceAnalyzer™. A flexible, easy-to-use data viewing and analysis tool, ForceAnalyzer™ standardizes
the decision support and reporting process for all levels of a pharmaceutical sales organization. It enables
territory representatives to track the effects of promotional activities, and enables managers to achieve sales
objectives, assure call-plan compliance, and manage promotional program implementation.

ForceAdministrator™. This interactive territory-management tool enables pharmaceutical companies to
align sales representatives to the right customer, at the right time, with the right product and the right
message. It manages product, user, and alignment field force changes.

o ForceConfigurator™. Permitting pharmaceutical companies to configure WebForce™ to the exact
requirements of individual sales forces, ForceConfigurator™ creates uniquely personalized interfaces by
enabling users to configure screens, amend text, and change parameters.

e SampleEnforcer™. This home office administration tool is specifically designed to manage sampling
activity and assist compliance with Prescription Drug Marketing Act (PDMA) and 21 Code of Federal
Regulations (CFR) Part 11 guidelines.

Jj-forceWEB™., Specifically developed for the Japanese market and containing functionality similar to
WebForce™, j-forceWEB™ is highly configured to meet local requirements unique to the Japanese
prescription-only pharmaceutical market. Dendrite has also launched j-forceNET™ and j-force MOBILE™,
web-based solutions that utilize new broadband communications in Japan.

VisiForce™. Designed for developing markets around the world, VisiForce™ is a complete sales force
management system that can be rapidly deployed and is highly configurable and scalable. VisiForce™
combines the business model of Dendrite’s popular Medicheck™ solution with the superior and flexible
technology platform of Dendrite’s industry-leading WebForce™ solution. Fully functional on PDAs and
laptops, VisiForce™ also allows companies to use technology appropriate to their budgets and specific market
conditions.

Medicheck™. Operating with independent architecture, Medicheck™ is a pharmaceutical sales force
solution that Dendrite has historically sold in diverse developing markets around the world. Currently, more
than 11,000 drug representatives in over 40 countries use the system to enhance the effectiveness of their sales
and marketing activities. Medicheck™ is being replaced by Dendrite’s VisiForce™ solution.

Information Management. These offerings permit customers to construct, integrate, and manage data to
provide enterprise decision support. OQur primary information management solutions are described below:

NUCLEUS Pharma™. A comprehensive customer management system that enables users to capture,
centralize, and manage all customer-related information, NUCLEUS Pharma™ provides sales organizations
with a complete view of each customer based on all available data from any and every source. It enables




pharmaceutical companies to define and store unique customer views to support enterprise-wide business
activities. This provides sales forces, management, operations, and home office personnel with accurate, timely,
and comprehensive information for making critical business decisions.

Validater. This solution keeps pharmaceutical customer data clean, up-to-date, and verified, allowing it to
be standardized, updated, matched, and merged. Validator enables pharmaceutical companies to validate
prescribers to ensure that only client-defined prescribers are in a database; repair incorrect or vacant DEA,
ME, and state license numbers; repair incorrect or outdated address information; remove duplicates and merge
data into one unique entity, or define other entities; and validate addresses to ensure the accuracy and efficiency
of sales representatives.

Business Intelligence and Analytics. These offerings include software and service solutions for analyzing

data that can be used to optimize promotional effectiveness or conduct post-marketing surveillance. Certain of our
business intelligence and analytical solutions are described below:

ScripMaxIQ™. A comprehensive marketing application that can be used to improve the return on all
channels of promotion, ScripMaxIQ™ enables companies to increase sales and market share by identifying
opportunities to develop powerful competitive strategies based on specific patterns of prescribing events as
determined through analysis of Dendrite’s longitudinal prescription data. Through a secure-access, web-based
portal, ScripMaxIQ™ generates key event reports through the timely delivery of actionable information,
enabling clients to make critical business decisions based on the latest physician prescribing habits and market
patterns.

Analytics and Consulting. Dendrite also provides analytical and consulting services based on the
development of a customer specific database and the application of unique tools. The Company has developed
strategic partnerships with a consortium of chain and independent retail pharmacies that are demographically
and geographically diverse across the United States. These pharmacy data partners deliver a new level of
timely, accurate, and anonymous data (an estimated 140 million prescriptions each month) for incorporation
into Dendrite’s proprietary algorithms and tools. Through this alliance, Dendrite offers clients access to unique
data, that when combined with advanced analytics and predictive modeling capabilities, provides information
regarding prescriber behavior not typically available from standard forms of analysis. Dendrite’s analytical
and consulting services include:

e Promotional response modeling and ROI analysis, forecasting and targeting, segmentation, and early adopter
studies;

e Incentive and compensation plan design, quota setting and allocation, territory optimization, sales force
sizing and structure, and business process engineering;

e Sample allocation, sample management, and reconciliation; and
e Safety surveillance, pharmacovigilance/risk management, and investigator recruitment.

Our approach to advanced analytics recognizes that each customer’s portfolio of products possesses unique
characteristics that must be represented in the analysis in order to produce meaningful and actionable results.
Therefore, when a client chooses to implement modeling for one or more of its brands, our consultants work
with the client’s managers and analysts to identify and quantify those aspects of the market and product
conditions that need to be represented in the analysis. We then tailor the models to the client’s specific business
and marketing needs. Once this tailoring has been completed, the resulting models and tools can be
incorporated into the client’s overall solution for ongoing use. The client’s business can be positively impacted
when the analytics drive actions which, when implemented, result in changed behavior to enhance business
performance in a measurable way.

Commercial Operations Management. These solutions consist of software and services that enable clients

to manage mission-critical business processes in support of their sales and marketing. They include:

Sample Guardian™. This sample tracking and auditing system total management solution for
accountability, compliance, and maintenance of critical sample information provides all the tools and strategic
management information needed by drug companies to comply with PDMA regulations.




Sample Alocations™. A comprehensive intranet-based solution to enable pharmaceutical personnel to
manage product sample allocations to the field, Sample Allocations™automates all tasks, at the home office
and in the field, involved in initiating, managing, and processing sample fulfiliment.

Sample Reporting™. This reporting solution is designed to provide easy and rapid access to home office
users in order to analyze, report, and trend sample information collected by Dendrite’s Sample Guardian™
solution. Based on an optimized query infrastructure, reports are designed, delivered, and presented using
industry-leading third-party business intelligence tools.

Organization Manager™. Enabling pharmaceutical companies to quickly and effectively respond to changing
market conditions and business requirements by simplifying the task of capturing and maintaining sales force
demographic information and aligning disparate field forces, Organization Manager™ lets users create centralized
representative rosters that are easily accessible across the entire organization. This permits the efficient management
of sales force information in order to effectively deploy and direct field force resources.

Consumer Goods Industry Products

Our consumer goods (CG) software products are generally configured in a manner similar to our pharmaceutical
software products. However, consumer goods sales representatives are more likely to use handheid or palmtop computing
devices than laptop and desktop personal computers. The Company’s solution offerings are described below:

WebForceCG™. This comprehensive, web-enabled product suite guides consumer goods companies in
effectively managing objective-driven, bi-directional communication among home office, sales management,
and remote field sales forces. WebForceCG™ facilitates effective product promotions, management objectives,
event activities, and funds management. Simultaneously, it provides sales forces with a single, centralized
location from which to access product information, enter orders, report shelf conditions, evaluate competitors,
record and catalogue client and prospect data, and access customer and account databases. The WebForceCG™
suite consists of three core applications (ForceCG™, ForceMobileCG™ and ForceAnalyzerCG™) for sales
and marketing units within traditional CG companies, over-the-counter/consumer health care units, and generic
pharmaceutical divisions.

Principal Services

In addition to product offerings, Dendrite offers a comprehensive range of services that may be used in
conjunction with Dendrite products or as stand-alone offerings. We also provide data-related services, including
data scrubbing, match, merge, and purge activities, and data analysis services. Nearly all of our customers engage
Dendrite to provide all or some of these services, including software-defect resolution.

When a major customer licenses a Dendrite sales force software product, the Company typically establishes
an implementation services group for that customer, as well as a separate support service group composed of both
customer support and technical support personnel dedicated to servicing that customer. For customers with smaller
sales forces or sales forces with specialized needs, such as non-home country language capability, the service group
may have responsibility for more than one client.

Typically, we provide services under multi-year contracts. In North America, we enter into service agreements
directly with customers. Outside North America, we enter into service agreements through our local wholly owned
subsidiary or branch. Depending upon the size of the customer and scope of services to be performed, a dedicated
service group may be comprised of five to 300 persons. Qur services are described below:

Implementation Services. These services include: the implementation and, if applicable, configuration, of
a Dendrite software product to meet customer requirements; customization of source code; creation of the
customer’s specific version of the Dendrite data model; creation of the customer’s integrated database; loading
of data onto the customer’s remote computer hardware; and training customer employees on the use and
capabilities of Dendrite sales force software products.

Techmical and Hardware Support Services. These offerings include technical support for Dendrite’s
software products; continuing support of the customer’s database; loading and linking new releases of third




party data purchased by the customer; identifying new functional segments for data analysis; providing
software defect resolution and issuing performance enhancements; and developing business interruption plans
for management of any unforeseen interference with Dendrite’s provision of ongoing support services. In
addition, at the request of certain customers, we may resell computer hardware and third-party software.

Data Center Services. Dendrite provides clients with data storage and cleansing, retrieval, and analysis,
enabling them to seamlessly manage large volumes of critical information. The Company also operates and
maintains Company and client servers. The Company’s state-of-the-art data center, strategically located in
Chesapeake, Virginia, offers a secure and protected environment conducive to multiple production
applications.

Cali Center Services. The Company delivers comprehensive help desk support service to home office and
field users, providing responses to support requests and offering a “single point of contact” and accountability
through its call center technology and support personnel.

Asset Management Services. From its facility in Bethlehem, Pennsylvania, Dendrite’s hardware
management department provides complete repair, maintenance, asset control and upgrade support for a wide
variety of computing devices and components to keep sales forces effective and operational.

Sales Force Suppert Services. These services include project management; ongoing training on the use and
capabilities of Dendrite’s products; assistance in planning and executing realignments of sales territories or
functional (e.g., formulary-based) segments to allow more effective resource allocation; direct customer
service telephone support for Dendrite and most third party software products (available seven days a week
and in many foreign languages); proactive prescription data analysis at a territory and physician level to a
customer’s sales representatives to improve sales and promotional campaigns; and data integration and data
management services with data our customers obtain from third party sources.

Clinical Trial Services. Dendrite offers a broad range of clinical trial services to pharmaceutical companies,
enabling them to conduct these trials more efficiently and expeditiously. Areas of clinical expertise include:

e designing and implementing integrated risk management/safety plans for the pharmaceutical industry which
include: risk identification, evaluation of potential hazards, communication of risk information and messages
to motivate compliance, and management systems that include testing of message approach;

e streamlining and supporting eClinical processes such as patient randomization, electronic and mobile data
capture, document management, worldwide serious adverse event reporting, and investigator coordination
through its global multilingual 24x7 help desks;

e optimizing investigator recruitment and identifying appropriate investigators and sites using proprietary data
and analytic engines; and

¢ managing the eLearning process by providing application sharing of eClinical solutions for investigators,
clinical research coordinators, and clinical research associates.

Customers

Our major customers consist of large, multinational pharmaceutical or other life sciences companies, including:
Abbott; Allergan; AstraZeneca; Aventis; Bristol-Myers Squibb; Celltech Medeva; Dai-nippon; Eli Lilly; Ethicon
Endo-Surgery; Forest Laboratories; GlaxoSmithKline; Kissei; Merck, Mitsubishi Tokyo; Novartis; Novo Nordisk;
Ono Pharmaceuticals; Pfizer; Procter & Gamble; Sanofi; Solvay; Takeda Pharma; Teijin; Tokyo Tanabe; Torii;
Tsumura; and Wyeth Lederle. [n addition, in the consumer goods market, our major customers include: Bacardi/
Martini Triodis; JTI MacDonald; Nestle Purina; PepsiCo; Prodirest; and Rayovac.

Approximately 45% of our total revenues in 2002 came from our two largest clients: Pfizer and Bristol-Myers
Squibb. Approximately 51% of our total revenues in 2001 came from Pfizer and Bristol-Myers Squibb.
Approximately 52% of our total revenues in 2000 came from Pfizer, Johnson & Johnson and Bristol-Myers Squibb.



Competition

The market for the type of solutions we provide, including CRM and sales force effectiveness (SFE) and related
support services, is highly competitive and rapidly changing. Many companies offer CRM and SFE products and/or
services in the pharmaceutical and consumer goods industries. We also compete with many companies that provide
support services similar to our own.

Although there are a number of other companies that sell CRM and SFE products, both within and outside the
pharmaceutical industry (including Siebel, Synavant, Stay-in-Front, and Cegedim), certain companies attempt to adapt
their products across a broad number of industries and uses. Dendrite, however, believes that it has distinguished itself
and is well positioned in the pharmaceutical market by reason of its unique combination of deep pharmaceutical business
knowledge, recognized technical support and depth of personnel experienced in the pharmaceutical industry, and
proprietary products and product architecture uniquely suited to the pharmaceutical industry.

QCur products and services compete with others principally on the basis of industry applicability, product
flexibility and configuration, as well as platform configuration. They also compete on the basis of name recognition,
global competence, service standards, cost, breadth of customer base, and technical support and service. '

We believe that our solutions compete favorably with respect to these factors, and that we are particularly well
positioned to maintain strong market leadership through innovative new product and application developments, and
continued focus on support services.

‘We expect competition to increase as new competitors enter the market to supply CRM and SFE products and/
or services and as existing competitors expand their product lines, consolidate, or offer more compelling solutions.
Some of our competitors and potential competitors are part of large corporate groups and have longer operating
histories and significantly greater financial, sales, marketing, and technology resources than Dendrite. We also
expect to encounter additional competition in the future from firms offering outsourcing of information technology
services and from vendors of software products providing specialized applications not offered by us, including
enterprise resource planning vendors.

We may also face competition from vendors that do not currently compete within our vertical markets. In
addition, we face potential competition from current customers and potential customers who may elect to design
and install or operate their own systems.

Research and Development

Dendrite continues to take advantage of new technologies in developing new products and services. We
recorded approximately $10,396,000, $11,104,000 and $10,875,000 of research and development expense in the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

We have capitalized certain costs related to the development of new software products and the enhancement
of existing software products consistent with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 86, “Accounting for
the Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased or Otherwise Marketed”. Capitalized software development
costs net of accumulated amortization were $5,605,000 and $5,518,000 at December 31, 2002 and 2001,
respectively.

Proprietary Rights
Dendrite relies on a combination of methods to protect our proprietary intellectual technology, including:

e trade secret, copyright, and trademark laws;

e license agreements with customers containing confidentiality provisions;

(5]

confidentiality agreements with consultants, vendors, and suppliers;

[+)

non-disclosure agreements with each of our executive officers and technical employees; and

o restrictive covenants with our executive officers and with many of our other key employees.



Existing United States copyright laws provide only limited protection, and even less protection may be
available under foreign laws.

Employees

As of December 31, 2002, the Company employed 1,559 employees: 1,106 in the United States and Canada;
216 in Europe; 132 in the Pacific Rim; and 105 in Latin America.

Geographical Areas

See Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements concerning information relating to the Company’s
geographic areas.

Executive Officers

The following table identifies the current executive officers of the Company:

Name Age  Capacities in Which Serve

John E. Bailye .........o.oiiiiiiiiiiiie 49 Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
Paul L. Zaffaroni........................o. . 56  President and Chief Operating Officer

Kathleen E. Donovan ........................ 42 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Marc Kustoff. ... 47  Senior Vice President and Chief Technology Officer
Christine A. Pellizzari........................ 35  Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
Brent J. Cosgrove ..........cooveiiiiiniin... 38  Vice President and Corporate Controller

Each executive officer serves at the discretion of the Board of Directors.

John E. Bailye has served as Chief Executive Officer and Director since the Company’s founding in 1987
and since 1991 in the additional position of Chairman of the Board. Prior to 1987, Mr. Bailye served as Managing
Director of Foresearch Pty., Limited (“Foresearch”), a consulting company to the pharmaceutical industry in
Australia. Mr. Bailye served in that capacity from the time he acquired Foresearch in 1976 until he sold the company
in 1986. Mr. Bailye served as a market researcher for Foresearch prior to 1976. Mr. Bailye holds a Bachelor of
Commerce in Finance, Marketing and Business from the University of New South Wales.

Paul L. Zaffaroni has served as President and Chief Operating Officer of Dendrite since October 2001. Prior to
joining the Company, Mr. Zaffaroni spent 10 years at Acxiom Corporation, serving in various capacities including
Corporate Sales Leader, Division Leader and Senior Vice President. Prior to Acxiom, Mr. Zaffaroni spent 21 years at
IBM Corporation. Mr. Zaffaroni holds a Bachelor of Science in Business Administration from Youngstown State
University.

Kathleen E. Donovan has served as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since March 2003.
Ms. Donovan has been with Dendrite since 1997 and has previously served as Vice President and Acting Chief
Financial Officer, Vice President and Treasurer, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of American Operations,
Vice President and Corporate Controller, and Vice President of Financial Operations. Prior to joining the Company,
Ms. Donovan spent 14 years at Unisys Corporation, most recently as Director of Corporate Financial Planning.
Ms. Donovan holds a Bachelor of Science in Finance from Georgetown University.

Marc Kustoff has served as Senior Vice President and Chief Technology Officer since November 2000. Prior
to joining Dendrite, Mr. Kustoff served as Vice President, Information Systems at Parke-Davis Pharmaceutical Co.,
and has held information technology management positions at Corning Life Sciences, Inc. and Rhone-Poulenc
Rorer, Inc. Mr. Kustoff holds a Bachelor’s degree from the State University of New York, and Master’s degrees
from Michigan State and Long Island Universities.

Christine A. Pellizzari has served as Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary since August 2000.
Ms. Pellizzari served as Associate Counsel from 1998 to 2000. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Pellizzari was an
Associate at Wilentz, Goldman & Spitzer, P.A. from 1995 to 1998 and was a law clerk to the Honorable Reginald Stanton,
Superior Court of New Jersey, from 1994 to 1995. Ms. Pellizzari holds a Bachelor of Arts in Legal Studies from the
University of Massachusetts at Amherst and a Juris Doctorate from the University of Colorado School of Law.




Brent J. Cosgrove has served as Vice President and Corporate Controller since June 2001. Mr. Cosgrove has
been with Dendrite since 1997 and previously served as Director of Investor Relations and Director of European
Finance. Mr. Cosgrove holds a Bachelor of Science in Accountancy from Ferris State University.

Additiona!l Information
For additional information regarding the Company’s business, see Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

Available Information

We make available free of charge through our website, www.dendrite.com, all materials that we file
electronically with the SEC, including our annual report on Form 10-X, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current
reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as soon as reasonably practicable after electronically filing such materials with,
or furnishing them to, the SEC. As of March 13, 2003, we made all such materials available through our website
as soon as reasonably practicable after filing such materials with the SEC.

You may also read and copy any materials filed by the Company with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference
Room at 450 Fifth Street, NW, Washington, DC 20549, and you may obtain information on the operation of the
Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. In addition, the SEC maintains an Internet website,
www.sec.gov, that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information which the Company
files electronically with the SEC.

ITEM 2. Properties.

The Company leases a 101,500 square foot building in Morristown, New Jersey, which serves as our corporate
headquarters; a 100,000 square foot facility in Chesapeake, Virginia, which houses our data and call centers; a
33,000 square foot facility in Bridgewater, New Jersey, which serves as administrative offices; 10,038 square feet
of office space in Stroudsburg, Pennsylvania, which houses customer support personnel; a 26,280 square foot
building in Basking Ridge, New Jersey, which houses customer support personnel; a 37,745 square foot building
in Bethlehem, Pennsylvania and a 15,000 square foot warehouse in Somerset, New Jersey, both of which serve
as hardware repair and maintenance facilities; and a 9,490 square foot office in Durham, North Carolina, which
houses certain employees in our SAI Business Unit. We also lease a total of 90,812 square feet for local management,
sales offices and customer support operations in seventeen foreign locations: Australia, Belgium, Brazil, Colombia,
China, Ecuador, France, Germany, Hungary, Italy, Japan (two locations), Mexico, The Netherlands, New Zealand,
Portugal and the United Kingdom. The Company owns a 145,000 square foot building in Piscataway, New Jersey,
which was purchased for the purpose of establishing a new U.S. operations facility to accommodate the Company’s
growth. In connection with its second quarter 2001 restructuring plan, the Company determined to shift its
operations to other existing facilities and therefore determined to sell this facility. See Notes 1, 2 and 3 to the
Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

Servers located at our facilities are commonly maintained in a secured area and are subject to regular audit
and inspection by our customers. The Company maintains database servers located at our facilities for substantially
all of our U.S. customers and many of our international customers.

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings.

Dendrite is from time to time involved in litigation relating to personnel and other claims arising in the ordinary
course of business. The Company is not currently engaged in any legal proceedings that are expected, individually
or in the aggregate, to have a material adverse effect on our business.

ITEM 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.
Not applicable.
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ITEM S. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters.

The Company’s common stock, no par value, is quoted on the Nasdaq National Market System under the
symbol “DRTE”. As of March 18, 2003, there were approximately 296 holders of record of our common stock.

The following table sets forth for the periods indicated the high and low sale prices for our common stock
as reported by the Nasdaq National Market System.

Period High Low

Quarter Ended March 31, 2002...........cooiiiiiii e $15.80 $ 9.79
Quarter Ended June 30, 2002. ... .o iiiii i i 14.04 9.36
Quarter Ended September 30, 2002...........coiiiiiiiii i 10.46 4.80
Quarter Ended December 31,2002 ... ... 8.38 5.10
Quarter Ended March 31, 2001.............iiiiii i $27.19 $11.63
Quarter Ended June 30, 2001, ... ..ot 13.34 7.42
Quarter Ended September 30, 2001.............. ... 13.65 6.56
Quarter Ended December 31, 2001 ............co. e, 15.15 6.90

The Company has never paid any cash dividends on its common stock and does not intend to pay any cash
dividends on common stock in the foreseeable future. If the Company were to consider paying cash dividends,
certain of the covenants of the Company’s line of credit may limit the amount of any such dividends we may pay.
See Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements and “Liquidity and Capital Resources” in Item 7 for a
discussion of our line of credit agreement.
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ITEM 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data.

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
(In Thousands, Except Per Share Data)
Statement of Operations Data:
Revenues: ... ... ..
License fees ..ot $ 13,507 $ 18,695 $ 23,966 $ 24,244 $ 14,955
SOIVICES L\ttt ettt e e 212,249 208,667 194,093 152,118 118,612
225,756 227,362 218,059 176,362 133,567
Costs of revenues:
Cost of license fees ...t 4,730 4,897 3,420 2,360 2,314
Purchased software impairment (@) .................. — 2,614 — — —
Cost of SErvices ........ovviiiiiiiiiiiiiiaeeenns 106,817 117,312 91,967 76,057 60,821
111,547 124,823 95,387 78,417 63,135
GIroSS MArgin . ....veviiinnin i 114,209 102,539 122,672 97,945 70,432
Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative .................. 77,301 94,578 67,884 56,927 44,046
Research and development .......................... 10,396 11,104 10,875 7,669 4,584
Mergers and acquisitions ..............c..ceiiiinain. — — — 3,466 —
Restructuring charge (b) ............... ... 47 6,110 — — —
Asset impairments (€) .........cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiea 1,832 11,723 — —_ —
Write-off of in-process research and development ... — — — — 1,230
89,482 123,515 78,759 68,062 49,860
Operating (10SS) INCOME .........covviiiienninninn.n. 24,727  (20,976) 43913 29,883 20,572
Interest iNCOME . ....oviirie it e 1,085 2,439 3,541 1,880 1,099
Other income (EXPense) .......co.verieriniiirenneenn.n (149) 3 5 (189) (466}
Income (loss) before income taxes .................. 25,663  (18,534) 47,459 31,574 21,205
Income tax (benefit) expense ................coivniinn.. 10,265 (6,063) 16,848 12,234 8,446
Net income (0SS} . .vvvvnrrnee e tieieiiiranannarenes $ 15,398 $(12,.471) $ 30,611 $ 19,340 $ 12,759
Net income (loss) per share:
Basic .. $ 039 %3 (031)$ 078 $ 051 $ 035
Diluted ... ... e $ 038 $ 03H$ 074 $§ 048 $ 032
Shares used in computing net income (loss) per share:
BasiC L. e 39,872 39,681 39,354 37,725 36,080
Diluted ... e 40,127 39,681 41,344 40,599 39,392
December 31,
2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
(In Thousands)
Balance Sheet Data:
Working capital ... $ 84933 $ 93,721 $113,738 § 78,131 $50,608
Total assets .......oiiirit e 188,476 166,483 175,903 124,720 81,831
Capital lease obligation, less current portion ........ 275 —_ — 285 544
Stockholders’ equity ...l 146,759 128,847 153,298 101,116 61,049

(a) Purchased software impairment is discussed in Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(b) Restructuring charge is discussed in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(c) Asset impairment is discussed in Notes 3 and 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ITEM 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K may contain certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21-E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, which are
intended to be covered by the safe harbors created by such acts. For this purpose, any statements that are not
statements of historical fact may be deemed to be forward-looking statements, including the statements under
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and “Business”
regarding our strategy, future operations, future expectations or future estimates, financial position and objectives
of management. Those statements in this Form 10-K containing the words “believes,” “anticipates,” “plans,”
“expects” and similar expressions constitute forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking
statements contain such identifying words. These forward-looking statements are based on our current expectations,
assumptions, estimates and projections about our Company and the pharmaceutical, life sciences and consumer
packaged goods industries. All such forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties, including those
risks identified under “‘Factors That May Affect Future Operating Results,” many of which are beyond our control.
Although we believe that the assumptions underlying our forward-looking statements are reasonable, any of the
assumptions could be inaccurate and actual results may differ from those indicated by the forward-looking
statements included in this Form 10-K, as more fully described under “Factors That May Affect Future Operating
Results”. In light of the significant uncertainties inherent in the forward-looking statements included in this Form
10-K, you should not consider the inclusion of such information as a representation by us or anyone else that we
will achieve such results. Moreover, we assume no obligations to update these forward-looking statements to reflect
actual results, changes in assumptions or changes in other factors affecting such forward-looking statements.

3 &

OVERVIEW

Co-founded in 1986 by John E. Bailye, the Company’s Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, and incorporated
in 1987, Dendrite was established to provide sales force automation solutions for the pharmaceutical industry. Since
then, it has broadened its offerings to include multiple sales and marketing solutions and related services to life
sciences clients. Dendrite’s solutions now comprise a broad array of knowledge-based, technology-driven solutions
that increase the effectiveness of sales, marketing, and clinical processes for pharmaceutical and other life sciences
clients, including: Customer Relationship Management (CRM) Solutions, Information Management, Business
Intelligence and Analytics, and Commercial Operations Management.

Our primary markets are currently in the United States, Japan, France and United Kingdom. We bill services
provided by our foreign branches and subsidiaries in local currencies. Operating results generated in local currencies
are translated into U.S. dollars at the average exchange rate in effect for the reporting period. We generated total
revenues outside the United States of approximately 21%, 19% and 23% during the years ended December 31, 2002,
2001 and 2000, respectively. Our revenues and operating profits by geographic areas are shown in Note 17 of “Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements”.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES, JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Securities and Exchange Commission Financial Reporting Release 60, requires companies to include a
discussion of critical accounting policies or methods used in the preparation of financial statements. A critical
accounting policy is one that is both very important to the portrayal of a company’s financial position and results
of operations, and requires management’s most difficult, subjective or complex judgments. The Company believes
its critical accounting policies to be revenue recognition, accounting for restructuring and impairments and income
taxes. See Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a summary of the significant accounting policies
and methods used in the preparation of our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Revenue Recognition

The area of revenue recognition requires the Company’s management to make significant judgments and
estimates. AICPA Statement of Position (SOP) 97-2, “Software Revenue Recognition”, governs revenue recognition
for arrangements that include software, which is more than incidental to the arrangement. Under SOP 97-2, if a
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sale of software includes services that are essential to the functionality of the software, then the entire arrangement
is to be accounted for using contract accounting as described in Accounting Research Bulletin 45, “Long-Term
Construction-Type Contracts” and SOP 81-1, “Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type and Certain
Production-Type Contracts.” The determination of whether or not services are essential to the functionality of the
software can differ from arrangement to arrangement, and requires the use of significant judgment by management.
Factors used in determining whether or not services are essential to the functionality may include: whether or not
physical changes are being made to the software’s underlying source code; the complexity of software configuration
services; the level of effort required to build interfaces; the overall relationship of the service fees to the license
fees; the length of time expected to complete the services and whether or not the services can be obtained by a
customer from their internal resources or another third-party vendor. If services are not considered to be essential
to the software, SOP 97-2 generally allows companies to recognize revenue for software licenses upon delivery
of the licenses, prior to configuration or implementation services, provided that the other requirements of the SOP
are met. In management’s judgment, the Company’s configuration and implementation services generally are
essential to the functionality of its software. Therefore, the Company typically recognizes revenues using the
percentage-of-completion method as detailed in SOP 81-1.

The Company’s arrangements are segmented, in accordance with SOP 81-1, into two primary elements or profit
centers, one being the license fee and implementation service element and the other being an ongoing sales force
support services element. The Company believes that its arrangements meet all of the criteria under SOP 81-1 to
allow for the segmentation of the two elements. If the segmentation criteria could not be met, it would result in
recognition of the Company’s license and implementation service revenues over the term of its multi-year support
service agreements.

The percentage-of-completion method of revenue recognition requires management to use significant estimates
in measuring the progress-to-completion for each project. For its license fee and implementation service projects,
the Company uses the input measure of labor incurred as compared with total expected labor for the entire project.
The determination of total project labor requires the use of significant judgment and estimates. We review these
estimates on a monthly basis. Actual results could differ from these estimates, which would have impacted the
amount of revenue previously recognized, had better estimates been available at the time.

Accounting for Restructuring

During 2001, the Company recognized costs in connection with a restructuring plan which involved a reduction
in size of the Company’s work-force, downsizing of certain facilities and relocation of certain activities. The
restructuring-related costs were based upon formal plans approved by the Company’s management using the
information available at the time. See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of
the restructuring and related charges.

Accounting for Impairments

We review long-lived assets other than goodwill and capitalized software development costs for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset might not be recoverable.
If indicators of impairment are present, we evaluate the recoverability of the long-lived assets by estimating future
undiscounted cash flows that are directly associated with and that are expected to arise as a direct result of the use
and eventual disposition of the long-lived asset. If this estimate of future undiscounted cash flows demonstrates
that recoverability is not probable, an impairment loss would be calculated and recognized. An impairment loss
would be calculated based on the excess carrying amount of the long-lived asset over the long-lived asset’s fair
value. The estimate of the fair value and the future undiscounted cash flows of the underlying long-lived assets
are based on significant judgment and assumptions.

We review capitalized software development costs and purchased capitalized development software costs for
impairment at each balance sheet date to determine if the unamortized capitalized costs of a computer software
product is greater than the net realizable value of that product. In those instances where the unamortized capitalized
costs are greater than the net realizable value, we will record an impairment.
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We assess the impairment of goodwill and other identifiable intangibles on an annual basis (October 1 of each
year) and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.
Some factors we consider important which could trigger an impairment review include the following:

¢ Significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results;
» Significant changes in the manner of our use of the acquired assets or the sirategy for our overall business; and
e Significant negative industry or economic trends.

On an annual basis or when we determine that the carrying value of goodwill and other identified intangibles
may not be recoverable based upon the existence of one or more of the above indicators of impairment, we compare
the fair value of the reporting unit to its carrying value, including goodwill (step one of the required test). If the
carrying value exceeds fair value, we would perform step two of the required test and record the impairment charge
in our statement of operations.

Income taxes

We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities based on the differences between the financial statement
carrying amounts and the tax bases of assets and liabilities. The Company regularly reviews its deferred tax assets
for recoverability and establishes a valuation allowance based on historical taxable income, projected future taxable
income, and the expected timing of the reversals of existing temporary differences, all of which require significant
management judgments. Realization is dependent on generating sufficient taxable income of a correct character
prior to the expiration of the loss carryforwards, capital loss and foreign tax credit carryforwards. Although
realization is not assured, management currently believes it is more likely than not that the recorded net deferred
tax asset will be realized; however, the asset could be reduced in the near term if estimates of future taxable income
during the carryforward period are reduced.

MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS

We regularly evaluate opportunities to acquire products or businesses that represent strategic enhancements
to our operations. Such acquisition opportunities, if they arise, may involve the use of cash or equity instruments,
The Company has made the following acquisitions over the last three years:

Software Associates International

On September 19, 2002, the Company acquired Software Associates International (“SAI”), a privately held
company based in New Jersey. SAI provided software products and solutions that enabled corporate level sales
and marketing analysis for pharmaceutical companies. These solutions are complementary to the Company’s core
suite of business products. The results of SAI's operations have been included in the Consolidated Financial
Statements since the acquisition date.

The aggregate purchase price was approximately $16,739,000 which included: cash of approximately
$15,092,000; accrued professional service fees of approximately $410,000; and options to purchase Dendrite
common stock valued at approximately $1,237,000. The fair value of the stock options was estimated using the
Black-Scholes valuation model. The Company is in the process of finalizing a third-party valuation of certain
intangible assets and its evaluation of acquired facilities and personnel for redundancy, and therefore, the purchase
price allocation is preliminary and subject to adjustment.

The Company recorded $7,523,000 of goodwill and $4,694,000 of acquired intangible assets, of which
approximately $732,000 was assigned to registered trademarks that are not subject to amortization. The remaining
$3,962,000 of acquired intangible assets includes purchased software development costs of approximately
$2,441,000, approximately $328,000 of non-compete agreements and approximately $1,193,000 of customer
relationship assets.

In connection with the acquisition of SAI, the Company developed an exit plan. The exit plan consisted of
closing a facility in Mt. Arlington, New Jersey and relocating the operations to the Company’s other facilities in
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New Jersey. The Company accrued as part of the acquisition costs the costs to terminate certain leases amounting
to $3,252,000. The Company anticipates finalizing the close of the facility during the first quarter of 2003,

Pharma Vision

On August 12, 2002, the Company acquired Pharma Vision for cash consideration of approximately $700,000,
which included approximately $50,000 of professional service fees. Pharma Vision collected and sold data for
customer targeting that pharmaceutical representatives use in Europe and provided support to pharmaceutical
customers in Belgium and The Netherlands. The results of Pharma Vision’s operations have been included in the
consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition.

Analytika

On January 6, 2000, the Company purchased all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities of Analytika,
Inc. (“Analytika™), a provider of advanced analytical products, consulting services and outsourced operations
services to the pharmaceutical industry. Under the terms of the acquisition agreement, the Company paid $2,318,000
in cash, which included transaction costs, and Dendrite common stock valued at $6,506,000. The acquisition has
been accounted for using the purchase method with the purchase price allocated to the fair value of the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed based on their respective fair market values at the acquisition date. Of the purchase
price, $2,890,000 was allocated to purchased capitalized software development costs. The excess of the purchase
price over the fair value of the net assets acquired was allocated to goodwill ($5,979,000) based upon a third party
valuation. Analytika’s results of operations have been included in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements
from the date of acquisition.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table sets forth our results of operations expressed as a percentage of total revenues for the
periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31

2002 2001 2060
Revenues:
License fees ..o, 6% 8% 11%
SeIVICES \ vttt e 94 92 89
100 100 100
Costs of Revenues:
Cost of license fees ............cooviiniines. 2 2 : 2
Purchased software impairment ............... — I —
Costof services ..........ocviiiiiiiiininin., 47 52 42
49 55 44
Gross Margin ..........ccoiiiiiiiiiiii 51 45 56
Operating Expenses:
Selling, general and administrative ............ 34 41 31
Research and development .................... S 5 ,
Restructuring charge ................ ... .. ... — 3 —
Asset IMpairments . ......o.oeevivveeriaenaenn. 1 5 —
40 54 36
Operating income (10S8) ........covevinenen... 11 9 20
Interest and other income ........................ 1 1 2
Income (loss) before income taxes ............ 12 & - 22
Income tax (benefit) expense .................... 5 2) 8
Net Income (10SS) ..ovnrviiiiieiiiiii et 7% (6)% 14%

The discussion of our results in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations includes and, where so indicated, excludes, the impact of the restructure and asset impairment charges
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and other non-comparable items. In discussing its period to period results, the Company believes it is useful, for
investors and management, in reviewing financial performance, to understand the impact on operating results and
financial condition (including on a comparative basis) of actions, events and items which the Company believes
are not normally part of its operations or are otherwise unusual events. It supplements, and is not intended to
represent, GAAP presentation.

Years Ended December 31, 2002 and 2001

Revenues, Total revenues decreased $1,606,000 to $225,756,000 in 2002, down 1% from $227,362,000 in
2001.

License fee revenues decreased $5,188,000 to $13,507,000 in 2002, down 28% from $18,695,000 in 2001.
License fee revenues as a percentage of total revenues were 6% in 2002 as compared to 8% in 2001. License fees
are, by nature, non-recurring items and fluctuate from year to year. The majority of license fee revenue recognized
during the year ended December 31, 2002 related to sales to new clients as well as purchases of additional user
licenses by existing customers who increased the size of their sales forces. The decrease in license fee revenues
from 2001 to 2002 was primarily due to fewer software upgrades by existing customers in 2002 as compared to
2001. License fee revenues increased during the fourth quarter of 2002 by 106% from the fourth quarter of 2001
and 152% from the third quarter of 2002. This increase was caused by both additional user purchases by a large
existing customer as well as a sale to a new customer.

Service revenues increased $3,582,000 to $212,249,000 in 2002, up 2% from $208,667,000 in 2001. Service
revenues as a percentage of total revenues were 94% in 2002 as compared to 92% in 2001. The Company’s results
reflected growth in technijcal and hardware support services and international operations offset by a decrease in
its domestic sales support services of approximately 13% compared to 2001. The decrease in domestic sales support
services was primarily attributable to the roll-off of a large customer.

Service revenues were atypically high in the fourth quarter of 2001. This was a result of our largest customer
completing a major rollout for their entire user base during the fourth quarter of 2001. The rollout resulted in
significant increases in the services rendered to our customers for initial training and peak period hardware and
help desk support. '

Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues decreased $13,276,000 to $111,547,000 in 2002, down 11% from
$124,823,000 in 2001,

Cost of license fees decreased $167,000 to $4,730,000 in 2002, down 3% from $4,897,000 in 2001. Cost of license
fees for the year ended December 31, 2002 is comprised of the amortization of capitalized software development costs
of $2,766,000 and third party vendor license fees of $1,964,000. Cost of license fees for the year ended December 31,
2001 is comprised of the amortization of purchased software and capitalized software development costs of $3,601,000
and third party vendor license fees of $1,296,000. The decrease in the amortization of capitalized software development
costs in the year ended December 31, 2002 was primarily attributable to the Company entering into a new product strategy
in 2001 which resulted in accelerated amortization of the remaining purchased capitalized software by the end of 2001.
The new strategy called for the features and functionality of the Marketing Management International, Inc. (“MMI")
products to be incorporated under the current WebForce™ umbrella. The Company estimated the net realizable value
of the MMI product to be greater than our carrying value in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting, Standard
86, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased or Otherwise Marketed” (“SFAS 86™); however,
due to the new version of WebForce™ which was to replace the MMI product, the estimated useful life of the MMI
capitalized software was reduced to approximately six months. As a result, we accelerated the amortization to coincide
with the estimated useful life of the product and recorded an additional $678,000 of amortization expense. The remaining
decrease in amortization relates to amortization recorded in 2001 on purchased capitalized software costs from the
Company’s acquisition of Analytika and Associated Business Computing, N.V (“ABC”). These were fully written-off
in the second quarter of 2001 and therefore there was no amortization expense in 2002. The increase in the third party
vendor license fees is directly related to the increase in sales of third party licenses during the fourth quarter of 2002.

During the second quarter of 2001, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $2,614,000 related to its
purchased capitalized software costs from its acquisitions of Analytika and ABC. As discussed above, the Company
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entered into a new product strategy in 2001. This new strategy called for the retirement of the ABC and Analytika
products since features and functionality were not being incorporated under the new WebForce™ umbrella. At that
time, we determined that we would no longer offer the Analytika and ABC products, but would continue to support
both products until existing customer contract terms expired. As a result, no revenues were forecasted for either
product in the future other than those under existing contracts. Further, despite the lack of future revenue we needed

to maintain the infrastructure required to support our Analytika and ABC products for the term of each contract.
Since the forecasted revenue base was significantly reduced yet the infrastructure and administrative costs remained
relatively fixed, these operations transitioned from positive to negative cash flows. In accordance with SFAS 86
we compared the unamortized capitalized software developments costs to the net realizable value of that product.
In our analysis, the net realizable value for the Analytika and ABC products was determined to be negative due
to the fact that estimated future revenues generated from new sales were zero. As a result all of the purchased
capitalized software associated with Analytika and ABC was determined to be impaired during the quarter ended
June 30, 2001. See Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements and “Restructuring Charge” and “Asset
Impairment” below for a discussion of the restructuring charges and asset impairments recorded in the year ended
December 31, 2001.

Cost of services decreased $10,495,000 to $106,817,000 in 2002, down 9% from $117,312,000 in 2001. This
decrease was due primarily to $1,434,000 of unusual costs recorded in the year ended December 31, 2001, which related
to the recognition of future losses on selected contracts for which we expected the costs of providing the future services
would exceed the revenue to be received from the performance of the services, which was identified while examining
the restructuring of our Stroudsburg, PA facility, and $3,118,000 which related to other exit costs, primarily retention
bonuses. The retention bonuses were paid to those employees who would lose their jobs at a future date as a result of
the restructuring, discussed below under “Restructuring Charge”, but who were needed during the transition to complete
assigned tasks related to the exit plan. During 2002, the Company reversed approximately $939,000 of the unusual costs
related to future loss contracts as the Company’s future obligations with respect to these contracts were favorably resolved
in 2002. There was an additional decrease in cost of services primarily due to efficiencies gained from the Company’s
2001 restructuring plan which resulted in relocation of certain services to locations with lower operating expenses.

Gross margin for license fees was 65% in 2002 up from 60% in 2001. The gross margin in 2001 was impacted
significantly by the $2,614,000 asset impairment and $678,000 of accelerated amortization of MMI purchased
capitalized software costs that were recorded in 2001. Excluding these items, the gross margin would have been
78% for 2001. As a result, gross margin from 2002 actually decreased from 2001 due primarily to the increase
in the sale of third party licenses as a percentage of total license fee revenue.

Gross margin for services was 50% in 2002 up from 44% in 2001. The gross margin in 2001 was impacted
significantly by the $4,552,000 of unusual costs described above within cost of services that was recorded in 2001.
Excluding these items, the gross margin would have been 46% for 2001. The improvement in gross margin during
the year ended December 31, 2002 was due to the reversal in the year ended December 31, 2002 of approximately
$939,000 of non-recurring costs previously recorded relating to the recognition of future losses on selected
contracts, for which the Company’s future obligations with respect to these contracts were favorably resolved. Also
contributing to the improvement was a favorable mix shift within our services business and the efficiencies gained
from the Company’s restructuring plan and the relocation of certain services to locations with lower operating
expenses that took place during 2001.

Total gross margin for 2002 was 51%, up from 45% in 2001 for the reasons set forth above.

Selling, General and Administrative (SG&A) Expenses. SG&A expenses decreased $17,277,000 to
$77,301,000 in 2002, down 18% from $94,578,000 in 2001. As a percentage of revenues, SG&A expenses
decreased to 34% for 2002, as compared to 42% in 2001. The decrease in SG&A expenses for the year ended
December 31, 2002 was partially attributed to approximately $7,481,000 of unusual costs incurred during the year
ended December 31, 2001. These costs consisted of the following: a) start up costs associated with the new facilities
of approximately $2,513,000, which included payments to outside consultants for consulting services related to
the reorganization of our business of approximately $1,400,000 and $1,113,000 of duplicate employee service costs
relating to employee overlap during the transition phase; b) transfer of operations of approximately $1,660,000,
which included costs that were required to be paid to certain customers for costs incurred by those customers as
part of the relocation of some of our services, bonuses paid to employees for their assistance with the transition
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and transfer of operations, and the accrual of real estate commissions for a building held for sale; ¢) duplicate facility
costs of approximately $2,100,000, resulting from costs incurred to have both facilities operating simultaneously
for a period of time during the transition (i.e., rent, utilities, real estate taxes, insurance, etc.) and d) relocation and
moving costs of approximately $1,208,000. Excluding these costs, SG&A expenses would have been $87,097,000
for the year ended December 31, 2001, which would have resulted in a decrease of $9,796,000 or 11% for the year
ended December 31, 2002. The remaining decrease was principally due to: i) $4,782,000 of costs associated with
the Company’s CRM launch in partnership with Oracle Corporation during the year ended December 31, 2001;
ii) a decrease in employment costs due to operating efficiencies and lower management bonuses in the year ended
December 31, 2002; and iii) the implementation of SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets™, which would
have resulted in a reduction of goodwill amortization expenses of approximately $1,302,000 had the provisions
been retroactively applied for the year ended December 31, 2001. These decreases were partially offset by
approximately $1,355,000 of costs incurred during the year ended December 31, 2002 related to a reduction in
the size of the workforce completed in the third quarter of 2002.

Research and Development (R&D) Expenses. R&D expenses decreased $708,000 to $10,396,000in 2002,
down 6% from $11,104,000 in 2001. As a percentage of revenues, R&D expenses remained constant at 5% in 2002
and 2001.

Restructuring Charge. OnJune 14,2001, the Company announced a restructuring of its business operations
to reflect a lower expected revenue growth model in the near term. As a result, the Company re-examined its cost
structure and determined that there were duplicate employee costs and excess overhead costs of approximately $8
to $10 mitlion annually. The restructuring plan consisted of a reduction of 155 delivery and staff positions and the
termination of 35 independent contractors across various departments in the United States and Europe. In addition
192 additional positions were eliminated as part of the closing of the Company’s facility in Stroudsburg, PA. The
Stroudsburg, PA operations were relocated to other Company facilities in New Jersey, Virginia and a new facility
in Bethlehem, PA. The exit costs, consisting of costs to retrofit the Stroudsburg facility, lease termination costs and
the write-off of leasehold improvements, were included in the restructuring charge while the moving and other start-
up costs were not included in this restructuring charge and were expensed as incurred.

During the second quarter of 2001, the Company recorded a charge of $6,134,000 associated with this
restructuring. This charge was reduced by $24,000 to $6,110,000 in the fourth quarter of 2001 due to the variance
between the amounts originally recorded and management’s revised estimate of the total costs of the restructuring.
This reduction of $24,000 was recorded within the restructuring charge on the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations. During the fourth quarter of 2002, the Company reduced the restructuring accrual by an
additional $47,000 due to revised estimates ‘of the total costs of the restructuring. Of the restructuring charge,
$260,000 related primarily to severance that had not been paid as of December 31, 2002 and, accordingly, is
classified as accrued restructuring charge in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. The restructuring charges
were based upon formal plans approved by the Company’s management using the information available at the time.
Management of the Company believes this provision will be adequate to cover the costs incurred relating to the
restructuring. The Company currently anticipates that the accrued restructuring balance of $260,000 as of
December 31, 2002 will be paid in 2003. The activity on the accrued restructuring charge balance for the year ended
December 31, 2002 is summarized in the table below:

Accrued
Accrued Restructuring
Restructuring Reversal of as of
as of Januvary 1, Cash Payments Accrual in December 31,
2002 in 2002 2002 2002
Termination payments to employees .... $2,218,000 $1,911,000 $(47,000) $260,000
Facility exit costs ...............ccoooeee. 495,000 495,000 — —
Contract termination and other
TeStructuring Costs .................... 237,000 237,000 — —
$2,950,000 $2,643,000 $(47,000) $260,000
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Asset Impairment. During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company reviewed the carrying value
of its long-lived assets including the facility held for sale. Based upon this review, the carrying value of the facility
held for sale was adjusted. The new fair value less costs to sell, of approximately $6,900,000, was determined based
upon a third-party valuation. The resulting $1,832,000 impairment loss has been recorded as a separate line item
in the statement of operations.

During the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company reviewed the carrying values of its long-lived assets,
including its minority investments in start-up ventures, identifiable intangibles and goodwill. During the review
of two start-up ventures, the Company became aware of a series of operating losses and the need of each start-up
venture to obtain additional financing to continue operations which became especially severe in the second quarter
of 2001. In addition, prior to the end of 2001 both start-up ventures filed for bankruptcy. As a result, during the

year ended December 31, 2001, the Company wrote off $3,450,000 of cost method investments it had in these two
start-up ventures due to an other than temporary decline in the fair value of these investments.

As part of its partnership with Oracle Corporation, the Company announced on June 14, 2001, its intention
to market an integrated CRM solution to meet the specialized needs of the worldwide pharmaceutical industry. As
a result, the Company’s vision and product platform changed. As discussed above in “Cost of Revenues” we
determined that we would no longer offer the Analytika and ABC products, but would continue to support both
products until existing customer contract terms expired. As a result, no revenues were forecasted for either product
for the future other than those under existing contracts. In accordance with SFAS 121, “Accounting for the
Impairment of Long-lived Assets and for Long-lived Assets to be Disposed Of”, we reviewed the future
undiscounted net cash flows for our Analytika and ABC products and determined the cash flows to be negative
due to the fact the projected revenue generated from new sales for each operation was zero. As a result, all the
goodwill associated with Analytika and ABC was impaired during the quarter ended June 30, 2001. Accordingly,
the Company recorded an impairment charge of $6,173,000 of goodwill during the year ended December 31, 2001.
See Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In connection with its second quarter 2001 restructuring, the Company made the decision not to occupy a
recently acquired facility and instead shifted its operations to other existing facilities. The Company therefore
decided to sell the recently acquired facility. An asset impairment of $2,100,000 was recorded to reduce the carrying
value of its facility held for sale to its estimated fair market value including selling costs. See Notes 1 and 3 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Interest Income. Interest income decreased to $1,085,000 in the year ended December 31, 2002, down
$1,354,000 or 55% from $2,439,000 in the year ended December 31, 2001. The decrease was primarily due to
lower short term interest rates versus last year which adversely impacted interest income during the year ended
December 31, 2002.

Provision for Income Taxes. The effective tax expense rate recorded for the year ended December 31, 2002
was 40%, as compared with an effective tax benefit rate of 33% for the year ended December 31, 2001. In July
2002, the State of New Jersey enacted new tax legislation that adversely impacts the effective state tax rate of most
companies operating in New Jersey. This legislation is retroactive to January 1, 2002. The effect of this legislation
increased the Company’s effective tax rate from 36% to 40% for the 2002 tax year. The higher effective tax rate
resulted in approximately $1,026,000 of additional income tax expense in 2002. The difference in rates also resulted
from the net loss position and the write-off of certain goodwill amounts which were not deductible for tax purposes,
both of which occurred during 2001.

Years Ended December 31, 2001 and 2680

Revenues. Total revenues increased $9,303,000 to $227,362,000 in 2001, up 4% from $218,059,000 in 2000.

License fee revenues decreased $5,271,000 to $18,695,000 in 2001, down 22% from $23,966,000 in 2000.
License fee revenues as a percentage of total revenues were 8% in 2001 as compared to 11% in 2000. License
fees are, by nature, non-recurring items. The overall decrease related to fewer licenses signed with new customers.

Service revenues increased $14,574,000 to $208,667,000 in 2001, up 8% from $194,093,000 in 2000. Service
revenues as a percentage of total revenues were 92% in 2001 as compared to 89% in 2000. In addition, during
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the three months ended December 31, 2001 service revenues increased to $60,909,000 from $49,276,000 for the
three months ended September 30, 2001. This increase in service revenues was the result of our largest customer
completing a major rollout for its entire user base. The rollout resulted in significant increases in the services
rendered to our customer for initial training, peak period hardware and help desk support.

Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues increased $29,436,000 to $124,823,000 in 2001, up 31% from
$95,387,000 in 2000.

Cost of license fees increased $1,477,000 to $4,897,000 in 2001, up 43% from $3,420,000 in 2000. Cost of
license fees includes the amortization of capitalized software development costs and third party vendor license fees.
The costs associated with third party vendor licenses increased due to an increase in the number of third party
software products embedded in our WebForce™ product suite. As of June 2001, the Company reduced the
remaining useful life of the purchased capitalized software related to the MMI acquisition to six months which
resulted in additional amortization expense of approximately $678,000 during the year ended December 31, 2001
as compared to the year ended December 31, 2000. This acceleration was brought on by the Company developing
a new product strategy in 2001. The features and functionality of the MMI products were incorporated under the
current WebForce™ umbrella. The Company estimated the net realizable value of the MMI product to be greater
than our carrying value in accordance with SFAS 86. However, due to the new version of WebForce™ which was .
to replace MM]I, the estimated useful life of the MMI capitalized software costs changed. We anticipated the
estimated useful life to be approximately six months. As a result, we accelerated the amortization to coincide with
the estimated useful life of the product.

During the second quarter of 2001, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $2,614,000 related to its
purchased capitalized software costs from its acquisitions of Analytika and ABC As discussed above, the Company
entered into a new product strategy in 2001. This new strategy called for the retirement of the Analytika and ABC
products since features and functionality were not going to be incorporated under the WebForce™ umbrella. At
that time, we determined that we would no longer offer the Analytika and ABC products, but would continue to
support both products until existing customer contract terms expired. As a result, no revenues were forecasted for
either product in the future other than those under existing contracts. Further, despite the lack of future revenue
we needed to maintain the infrastructure required to support our Analytika and ABC product for the term of each
contract. Since the forecasted revenue base was significantly reduced yet the infrastructure and administrative costs
remained relatively fixed, these operations transitioned from positive to negative cash flows. In accordance with
SFAS 86 we compared the unamortized capitalized software development costs to the net realizable value of that
product. In our analysis, the net realizable value for the Analytika and ABC products was determined to be negative
due to the fact that estimated future revenues generated from new sales were zero. As a result all of the purchased
capitalized software associated with Analytika and ABC was determined to be impaired during the quarter ended
June 30, 2001. See Note 3 to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements and “Restructuring Charge” and
“Asset Impairment” below for a discussion of the restructuring charges and asset impairments recorded in the year
ended December 31, 2001.

Cost of services increased $25,345,000 to $117,312,000 in 2001, up 28% from $91,967,000 in 2000. This
increase was due to a combination of factors, including unusual costs recorded during the year ended December 31,
2001 of $1,434,000 related to the recognition of future losses on selected contracts for which we expected the costs
of providing the future services to exceed the revenue to be received from the performance of the services, which
was identified while examining the restructuring of our Stroudsburg, PA facility and $3,118,000 which related to
other exit costs, primarily retention bonuses. The retention bonuses were paid to those employees who would lose
their jobs at a future date as a result of the restructuring, discussed below under “Restructuring Charge”, but who
were needed during the transition to complete assigned tasks related to the exit plan. The remaining increase in
cost of services was primarily due to overstaffing within our service areas in anticipation of higher levels of growth
than were realized during the first six months of 2001.

Gross margin for license fees was 60% in 2001 down from 86% in 2000. The gross margin was impacted
significantly by the $2,614,000 asset impairment and $678,000 of accelerated amortization of MMI purchased capitalized
software costs that were recorded in 2001. Excluding these items, the gross margin would have been 78% for 2001.
This was lower than the gross margin in 2000, primarily due to the increase in third party licenses sold during 2001.
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Gross margin for services was 44% in 2001 down from 52% in 2000. The gross margin was impacted
significantly by $4,552,000 of unusual costs within cost of services that was recorded in 2001. If not for the effects
of these items, the gross margin would have been 46% for 2001. This was significantly lower than the gross margin
in 2000, primarily due to overstaffing within our service areas in anticipation of higher levels of growth than were
realized during the first six months of 2001.

Total gross margin for 2001 was 45%, down from 56% in 2000 for the reasons set forth above.

Selling, General and Administrative (SG&A) Expenses. SG&A expenses increased $26,694,000 to
$94,578,000 in 2001, up 39% from $67,884,000 in 2000. As a percentage of revenues, SG&A expenses increased

to 42% for 2001, as compared to 31% in 2000. The increase in SG&A expenses was caused by several factors,
most notably $4,782,000 of costs associated with the Company’s CRM launch in partnership with Cracle
Corporation, $14,431,000 of costs including higher facility costs principally due to the opening of a new facility,
higher depreciation, and higher salaries and related costs due to the addition of certain key management and changes
in our global sales organization and approximately $7,481,000 of unusual costs. These unusual costs consisted of
a) start up costs associated with the new facilities of approximately $2,513,000, which included payments to outside
consultants for consulting services related to the reorganization of our business of approximately $1,400,000 and
$1,113,000 of duplicate employee service costs relating to employee overlap during the transition phase; b) transfer
of operations of approximately $1,660,000, which included costs that were required to be paid to certain customers
for costs incurred by those customers as part of the relocation of our services, bonuses paid to employees for their
assistance with the transition and transfer of operations, and the accrual of real estate commissions for a building
held for sale; ¢) duplicate facility costs of approximately $2,100,000, which resulted from costs incurred to have
both facilities operating simultaneously for a period of time during the transition (i.e., rent, utilities, real estate taxes,
insurance, etc.) and d) relocation and moving costs of approximately $1,208,000

Research and Development (R&D) Expenses. R&D expenses increased $229,000 to $11,104,000in 2001,
up 2% from $10,875,000 in 2000. As a percentage of revenues, R&D expenses remained constant at 5% in 2001
and 2000.

Restructuring Charge. OnJune 14, 2001, the Company announced a restructuring of its business operations
to reflect a lower expected revenue growth model in the near term. As a result, the Company re-examined its cost
structure and determined that there were duplicate employee costs and excess overhead costs of approximately $8
to $10 million annually. The restructuring plan consisted of a reduction of 155 delivery and staff positions and the
termination of 35 independent contractors across various departments in the United States and Europe. In addition
192 additional positions were eliminated as part of the closing of the Company’s facility in Stroudsburg, PA. The
Stroudsburg, PA operations were relocated to other Company facilities in New Jersey, Virginia and a new facility
in Bethlehem, PA. The exit costs, consisting of costs to retrofit the Stroudsburg facility, lease termination costs and
the write-off of leasehold improvements were included in the restructuring charge while the moving and other start-
up costs were not included in this restructuring charge and were expensed as incurred.

During the second quarter of 2001, the Company recorded a charge of $6,134,000 associated with this
restructuring. This charge was reduced by $24,000 to $6,110,000 in the fourth quarter of 2001 due to the variance
between the amounts originally recorded and management’s revised estimate of the total costs of the restructuring.
This reduction of $24,000 was recorded within the restructuring charge on the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations. Of the restructuring charge, $2,950,000 related primarily to severance that had not been
paid as of December 31, 2001, and, accordingly, was classified as accrued restructuring charge in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheet. The restructuring charges were based upon formal plans approved by the Company’s
management using the information available at the time. Management of the Company believes this provision will
be adequate to cover the costs incurred relating to the restructuring. The activity on the accrued restructuring charge
balance as of December 31, 2001 is summarized in the table below:
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Restructuring Cash Payments  Accrued Restructuring

Charge in 2001 as of December 31, 2001
Termination payments to employees ...................... $5,064,000  $2,846,000 $2,218,000
Facility eXit COSIS ...ovviiiiie et ii e 623,000 128,000 495,000
Contract termination and other restructuring costs ........ 423,000 186,000 237,000
$6,110,000  $3,160,000 $2,950,000

Asset Impairment. During the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company reviewed the carrying values
of its long-lived assets, including its minority investments in start-up ventures, identifiable intangibles and goodwill.
During the review of two start-up ventures, the Company became aware of a series of operating losses and the need
of each start-up venture to obtain additional financing to continue operations, which became especially severe in
the second quarter of 2001. In addition, prior to the end of 2001 both start-up ventures filed for bankruptcy. As
a result, during the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company wrote off $3,450,000 of cost method investments
it had in these two start-up ventures due to an other than temporary decline in the fair value of these investments.

As part of its partnership with Oracle Corporation, the Company announced on June 14, 2001, its intention to
market an integrated CRM solution to meet the specialized needs of the worldwide pharmaceutical industry. As a result
the Company’s vision and product platform changed. As discussed above in “Cost of Revenues” we determined that
we would no longer offer the Analytika and ABC products, but would continue to support both products until existing
customer contract terms expired. As a result, no revenues were forecasted for either product for the future other than
those under existing contracts. In accordance with SFAS 121, we reviewed the future undiscounted net cash flows for
our ABC and Analytika products and determined the cash flows to be negative due to the fact the projected revenue
generated from new sales for each operation was zero. As a result, all the goodwill associated with ABC and
Analytika was deemed to be impaired during the quarter ended June 30, 2001. Accordingly, the Company recorded an
impairment charge of $6,173,000 of goodwill during the year ended December 31, 2001. See Note 3 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

In connection with its second quarter 2001 restructuring, the Company made the decision to shift its operations
to other existing facilities and therefore decided to sell a recently acquired facility. An expected sale, scheduled
to close in the fourth quarter did not occur and the Company wrote down the building to its fair market value. An
asset impairment of $2,100,000 was recorded to reduce the carrying value of its facility held for sale to its then
current estimated fair market value including selling costs. See Notes 1 and 3 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Provision for Income Taxes. The effective tax benefit rate recorded for the year ended December 31, 2001
was 32.7%, as compared with an effective tax expense rate of 35.5% for the year ended December 31, 2000. The
difference in rates resulted primarily from the write-off of certain goodwill amounts in 2001 which were not
deductible for tax purposes.
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QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table sets forth certain unaudited consolidated statement of operations data expressed in U.S.
dollars for 2002 and 2001. Our quarterly results have varied considerably in the past and are likely to vary from
quarter to quarter in the future.

March 31, Jume 30, Sept.30, Dec.31, March 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31,
2002 2602 2002 2002 2001 2001 2001 2001

(in Thousands, Except Per Share Data)

Statement of Operations Data:

Revenues:
License fees .................... $ 3,179 $ 2,306 $ 2,276 $ 5,745 $ 3,003 $ 4,273 $ 8,635 $ 2,784
Services ..., 54264 55306 51,385 51,295 49,809 48,674 49,276 60,909

57,443 57,612 53,661 57,040 52,812 52,947 57,911 63,693

Costs of Revenues:

Cost of license fees ............ 924 1,007 845 1,954 963 1,198 1,531 1,205
Purchased software impairment .. — — — — — 2,614 — —
Cost of services ................ 29,227 27,748 24,510 25,333 27,099 32,027 27,463 30,724

30,151 28,755 25,355 27,287 28,062 35,839 28,994 31,929
Gross margin ................... 27,292 28,857 28,306 29,753 24750 17,108 28,917 31,764

Operating Expenses:
Selling, general, and

administrative ................ 19,500 19,488 19,153 19,161 20462 28,632 22,875 22,609
Research and development ..... 2,629 2,455 2362 2,950 2,867 2,968 2,680 2,580
Restructuring charge ........... — — — 47 — 6,134 — (24)
Asset impairment ............... — — 1,832 — — 9,623 — 2,100

22,129 21,943 23,347 22,064 23,329 477357 25,564 27,265
Operating income (loss) ........ 5,163 6914 4959 7,689 1,421 (30,249) 3,353 4,499
Interest income ................... 304 288 267 229 926 671 496 346
Other income (expense) ........... 57 2n (143) 43) (26) (58) 9 96
Income (loss) before income tax
expense (benefit) ............. 5524 7,181 5,083 7,875 2321 (29,636) 3,840 4,941
Income tax expense (benefit) ..... 1,989 2,585 2,541 3,150 836 (10,060) 1,383 1,778
Net income (1oss) ................. $ 3,535 $ 459 $ 2,542 $ 4,725 $ 1,485 $(19,576)$ 2,457 $ 3,163
Net income (loss) per share:
Basic ...ooiiiiii $ 098 2 D68 128 004 3 (05008 006 $ 0.08
Diluted ..................cooees $ 09 5% I1$ 063% .12 8 004 % (050)$ 0.06 $ 0.08

Shares used in computing net
income (loss) per share:
Basic ..ot 39,713 39,921 39,943 39910 40,249 39,537 39,568 39,508
Diluted .............cocooviintl 40,216 40,321 40,003 39,966 41,159 39,537 39,985 39,983

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESQURCES

We finance our operations primarily through cash generated by operating activities. Net cash provided by
operating activities was $24,189,000 for 2002, compared to $39,891,000 for 2001. This decrease in net cash
provided by operating activities was due largely to cash generated in 2001 from the collection of an unusually high
accounts receivable balance as of December 31, 2000. In other areas, accounts payable and accrued expenses,
including accrued restructuring charges, decreased by $7,765,000 during the year ended December 31, 2002 due
to continued payments of unusual costs and restructuring accruals as well as lower year end accruals for 2002
management bonuses. Deferred revenue decreased significantly in 2002 due to the fact that three customers elected
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to pay us in advance for contracted services to be performed in 2002, prior to the end of 2001. These factors were
offset by the Company’s net income in the year ended December 31, 2002 compared with its net loss in the year
ended December 31, 2001.

Net cash used in investing activities was $22,520,000 for 2002 as compared to $33,997,000 in 2001. The
significant decrease was due primarily to the purchase of a facility during 2001 which is currently held for sale
and higher purchases of property and equipment in 2001 related to the completion of our facility moves. This
decrease is partially offset by the acquisition of SAl and PharmaVision and the redemption of short-term investments
of $ 5,088,000 in 2002.

Net cash provided by financing activities of $1,008,000 in 2002 includes approximately $2,900,000 of cash
proceeds primarily from the exercise of stock options offset by approximately $1,500,000 of repurchases of
common stock under the stock repurchase program announced on July 31, 2002. Net cash used in financing activities
of $13,047,000 in 2001 includes approximately $4,400,000 of cash proceeds from the issuance of common stock
offset by approximately $17,500,000 of repurchases of common stock under the stock repurchase program
announced on January 31, 2001.

At December 31, 2002, our working capital was approximately $84,933,000. Total cash and investments were
37% of total assets as of December 31, 2002 compared with 43% as of December 31, 2001. The Company’s days
sales outstanding in accounts receivable was 73 days as of December 31, 2002 compared with 49 days as of
December 31, 2001. The December 31, 2002 days sales outstanding was adversely impacted due to the inclusion
of the contracted long-term receivables with a major customer. Excluding the contracted long-term receivable, the
Company’s days sales outstanding would have been 63 days as of December 31, 2002. We believe that available
funds, anticipated cash flows from operations and our line of credit will satisfy our currently projected working
capital and capital expenditure requirements, exclusive of cash required for possible acquisitions of businesses,
products and technologies, for the foreseeable future.

We regularly evaluate opportunities to acquire products or businesses complementary to our operations. Such
acquisition opportunities, if they arise, and are successfully completed, may involve the use of cash or equity instruments.

On July 31, 2002, the Company announced that its Board of Directors had authorized the Company to
repurchase up to $20,000,000 of its outstanding common stock over a two-year period (the “2002 Stock Repurchase
Plan”). Under the 2002 Stock Repurchase Plan, the Company may repurchase shares on the open market or in
privately negotiated transactions from time to time. Repurchases of stock under the 2002 Stock Repurchase Plan
are at management’s discretion, depending upon price and availability. The repurchased shares are held as treasury
stock, which may be used to satisfy the Company’s current and near term requirements under its equity incentive
and other benefit plans and for other corporate purposes. As of December 31, 2002, the Company has repurchased
under the 2002 Stock Repurchase Plan 277,500 shares of Company common stock at a purchase price of $1,469,000.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND COMMITMENTS

We maintain a $15.0 million revolving line of credit agreement with The Chase Manhattan Bank, N.A. The
agreement is available to finance working capital needs and possible future acquisitions. The terms of this agreement
require us to maintain a minimum consolidated net worth, among other covenants, measured quarterly, which is
equal to $105,000,000, plus 50% of our net income earned after January 1, 2002 and 75% of the net proceeds to
us of any stock offerings after September 30, 2001 (as defined in the agreement). This covenant effectively limits
the amount of cash dividends we may pay. The credit facility expires on November 30, 2003. At December 31,
2002, there were no borrowings outstanding under the agreement and we were in compliance with all of our
covenant obligations.

As of December 31, 2002, we did not have any material commitments for capital expenditures. Our principal
commitments at December 31, 2002 consisted primarily of obligations under operating and capital leases. Future
minimum rental payments on these leases, including amounts accrued for in purchase accounting restructuring
accruals, are as follows:
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Payments due by period

Contractual Obligations Total 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 Thereafter

Capital Lease Obligations $ 949,000 $ 659,000 $ 258,000 $ 32,000 — — —
Operating Leases ....... $38,211,000 $ 9,784,000 $7,637,000 $4,102,000 $3,391,000 $2,955,000 $10,342,000
Total ...t $39,160,000 $10,443,000 $7,895,000 $4,134,000 $3,391,000 $2,955,000 $10,342,000

As of December 31, 2002, letters of credit for approximately $475,000 were outstanding.

The Company has an agreement with a venture capital fund with a commitment to contribute $1,000,000 to
the fund, callable in $100,000 increments. As of December 31, 2002, $300,000 has been paid and included in other
assets on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet with $700,000 of commitment remaining. The agreement
has a termination date of December 11, 2010, subject to extension by the limited partners.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In December 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standard (“SFAS”) 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure.”
SFAS 148 amends SFAS 123 “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” to provide alternative methods of
transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee
compensation. In addition, SFAS 148 amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS 123 to require more prominent
disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements about the method of accounting for stock-based employee
compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results. The additional disclosure requirements of
SFAS 148 are effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002. The Company has elected to continue to
follow the intrinsic value method of accounting as prescribed by Accounting Principles Board Opinion 25
(“APB 257), “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” to account for employee stock options.

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS 146 “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities”
effective for exit or disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. SFAS 146 nullifies Emerging Issues Task
Force (“EITF”) Issue 94-3 “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to
Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring).” Under SFAS 146 a liability for a cost
associated with an exit or disposal activity shall be recognized and measured initially at its fair value in the period
in which the liability is incurred rather than the date an entity commits to an exit plan. We expect the adoption
of SFAS 146 will have an impact on the timing of the recording of any future restructuring charges.

In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS 144 “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived
Assets”, which superceded SFAS 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-lived Assets and for Long-Lived
Assets to be Disposed Of”, and addresses financial accounting and reporting for the impairment or disposal of long-
lived assets. This statement is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001. The Company adopted
this statement on January 1, 2002, which did not have an impact on the Company’s financial position or results
of operations.

Effective July 1, 2001 the Company adopted SFAS 141, “Business Combinations,” and effective January 1,
2002 the Company adopted SFAS 142, “Goodwill and other Intangible Assets.” SFAS 141 requires business
combinations initiated after June 30, 2001 to be accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. It also
specifies the types of acquired intangible assets that are required to be recognized and reported separate from
goodwill. SFAS 142 requires that goodwill and certain intangibles no longer be amortized, but instead tested for
impairment at least annually. For the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, amortization of goodwill, net of
income taxes was $833,000 and $1,533,000, respectively. SFAS 142 also requires that intangible assets with finite
useful lives be amortized over their respective estimated useful lives and reviewed for impairment in accordance
with SFAS 121, which was superceded by SFAS 144. The Company intends to conduct its annual impairment testing
of goodwill on October 1 of each year. Based on the Company’s analysis, there was no impairment of goodwill
in fiscal 2002.

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements
for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others” (FIN 45). FIN 45 changes current practice
in the accounting for, and disclosure of, guarantees. The Interpretation requires certain guarantees to be recorded
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at fair value, which is different from current practice, which is generally to record a liability only when a loss is
probable and reasonably estimable, as those terms are defined in FASB Statement 5, “Accounting for Contingencies™
(SFAS 5). The Interpretation also requires a guarantor to make significant new disclosures, even when the likelihood
of making any payments under the guarantee is remote, which is another change from current practice. The Company
has not issued any guarantee that meets the initial recognition and measurement requirements of FIN 45. The
Company has adopted the disclosure requirements of FIN 45 for the year ended December 31, 2002, as required.

In November of 2002, the FASB issued Emerging Issues Task Force Issue 00-21, “Accounting for Revenue
Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables” (EITF 00-21). EITF 00-21 addresses the accounting for arrangements
that involve the delivery or performance of multiple products, services or rights to use assets. This consensus is
applicable to arrangements entered into on or after June 15, 2003 and permits companies to account for existing
arrangements as the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principles in accordance with APB Opinion 20,
“Accounting Changes”. The Company is currently assessing the impact of EITF 00-21, but does not believe that
it will have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements or liquidity.

In November 2001, the FASB issued EITF 01-14, “Income Statement Characterization of Reimbursements
Received for “Out-of-Pocket” Expenses Incurred.” EITF 01-14 requires that in cases where the contractor acts as
a principal, reimbursements received for out-of-pocket expenses incurred be characterized as revenue and the
associated costs be included as cost of services in the income statement. The Company applied EITF 01-14 and,
as required, has also reclassified comparative financial information for the years ended December 31, 2001 and
2000. The impact of applying this pronouncement was to increase both revenues and cost of services by $3,989,000,
$3,405,000 and $3,733,000 for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The
implementation of EITF 01-14 had no impact upon earnings.

FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE OPERATING RESULTS

Our Business is Heavily Dependent on the Pharmaceutical Induestry

Most of our customer relationship management (CRM) and sales force effectiveness (SFE) products and
services are currently used in connection with the marketing and sale of prescription-only drugs. This market is
undergoing a number of significant changes. These include:

o the significant consolidation of the pharmaceutical industry as well as the timing and sequencing of sales
to our customers may reduce the number of our existing and potential customers;

e regulatory changes that permit the over-the-counter sale of formerly prescription-only drugs;
» increasing Food and Drug Administration activism; and

e competitive pressure on the pharmaceutical industry resulting from the continuing shift to delivery of
healthcare through managed care organizations.

‘We cannot assure you that we can respond effectively to any or all of these and other changes in the marketplace.
Our failure to do so could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results or financial condition.

We Depend on a Few Major Customers for a Significant Portion of Our Revenues

Historically, a limited number of our customers have contributed a significant percentage of the Company’s
revenues. The Company anticipates that its operating results in any given period will continue to depend
significantly upon revenues from a small number of customers. The loss of any of these customers (which could
include loss through mergers and acquisitions) could have a materially adverse effect on the Company’s business.
We cannot make any assurances that we will retain our existing customers or attract new customers that would
replace the revenue that could be lost if one or more of these customers failed to renew its agreement(s) with the
Company.
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Business and Econcemic Pressures on Our Major Customers May Cause a Decrease in Demand for Qur
New Products and Services

Business and economic pressures on our major customers may result in budget constraints that directly impact
their ability to purchase the Company’s new products and services offerings. We cannot assure you that any decrease
in demand caused by these pressures will not have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results or
financial condition.

Our Lengthy Sales and Implementation Cycles Make it Difficult to Predict Qur Quarterly Revenues

The selection of a CRM solution generally entails an extended decision-making process by our customers
because of the strategic implications and substantial costs associated with a customer’s license or implementation
of the solution. Given the importance of the decision, senior levels of management of our customers are often
involved in the process and, in some instances, its board of directors may also be involved. As a result, the decision-
making process typically takes nine to eighteen months, and in certain cases longer. Accordingly, we cannot fully
control or predict the timing of our execution of contracts with customers.

In addition, an implementation process of three to six or more months before the software is rolled out to a
customer’s sales force is customary. However, if a customer were to delay or extend its implementation process,
our quarterly revenues may decline below expected levels and could adversely affect our results of operations.

Our Fixed Costs May Lead to Fluctuations in Our Quarterly Operating Results if Revenues Fall Below
Expectations

We establish our expenditure levels for product development, sales and marketing and some of our other
operating expenses based in large part on our expected future revenues and anticipated competitive conditions. In
particular, we frequently add staff in advance of new business to permit adequate time for training. If the new
business is subsequently delayed, canceled or not awarded, we will have incurred expenses without the associated
revenues. In addition, we may increase sales and marketing expenses if competitive pressures become greater than
originally anticipated. Since only a small portion of our expenses varies directly with our actual revenues, our
operating results and profitability are likely to be adversely and disproportionately affected if our revenues fall below
our targeted goals or expectations.

We May be Unable to Successfully Introduce New Products or Respond to Technological Change

The market for CRM and SFE products changes rdpidly because of frequent improvements in computer
hardware and software technology. Our future success will depend, in part, on our ability to:

e use available technologies and data sources to develop new products and services and to enhance our current
products and services;

¢ introduce new solutions that keep pace with developments in our target markets; and
e address the changing and increasingly sophisticated needs of our customers.

We cannot assure you that we will successfully develop and market new products or product enhancements
that respond to technological advances in the marketplace, or that we will do so in a timely fashion. We also cannot
assure you that our products will adequately and competitively address the needs of the changing marketplace.

Competition for software products has been characterized by shortening product cycles. We may be materially
and adversely affected by this trend if the product cycles for our products prove to be shorter than we anticipate.
If that happens, our business, operating results or financial condition could be adversely affected.

To remain competitive, we also may have to spend more of our revenues on product research and development
than we have in the past. As a result, our results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

Further, our software products are technologically complex and may contain previously undetected errors or
failures. We cannot assure you that, despite our testing, our new products will be free from errors. Software errors
could cause delays in the commercial release of products until the errors have been corrected. Software errors may
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cause damage to our reputation and cause us to commit significant resources to their correction. Errors that result
in losses or delays could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results or financial condition.

Increased Competition May Result in Price Reductions and Decreased Demand for Qur Products and
Services

There are a number of other companies that sell CRM and SFE products and related services that specifically
target the pharmaceutical industry, including competitors that are actively selling CRM and SFE software products
in more than one country and competitors that also offer CRM and SFE support services. Some of our competitors
and potential competitors are part of large corporate groups and have significantly greater financial, sales, marketing,
technology and other resources than we have.

While we believe that the CRM and SFE software products and/or services offered by most of our competitors
do not address the variety of pharmaceutical customer needs that our solutions address, increased competition may
require us to reduce the prices for our products and services. Increased competition may also result in decreased
demand for our products and services.

We believe our ability to compete depends on many factors, some of which are beyond our control, including:
e the number and success of new market entrants supplying competing CRM products or support services;
e expansion of product lines by, or consolidation among, our existing competitors; and

¢ development and/or operation of in-house CRM software products or services by our customers and potential
customers.

Any one of these factors can lead to price reductions and/or decreased demand and we cannot assure you that
we will be able to continue to compete successfully or that competition will not have a material adverse effect on
our business, operating results or financial condition.

We May Not Be Able to Compete Effectively in the Internet-Related Products and Services Market Nor
Can We Provide Assurances that the Demand for Internet-Related Products and Services Will Increase

The success of parts of our business will depend, in part, on our ability to continue developing Internet-related
products and responding to technological advances and changing commercial uses of the Internet. We cannot assure
you that our Internet-related products and services will adequately respond to such technological advances and
changing uses. Nor can we assure you that the demand for Internet-related products and services will increase.

Our International Operations Have Risks That Cur Domestic Operations Do Not

The sale of our products and services in foreign countries accounts for, and is expected in the future to account
for, a material part of our revenues. These sales are subject to risks inherent in international business activities, including:

e any adverse change in the political or economic environments in these countries or regions;

¢ any adverse change in tax, tariff and trade or other regulations;

the absence or significant lack of legal protection for intellectual property rights;

e exposure to exchange rate risk for service revenues which are denominated in currencies other than U.S.
dollars; and

difficulties in managing an organization spread over various jurisdictions.

We May Face Risks Associated with Acquisitions

Our business could be materially and adversely affected as a result of the risks associated with acquisitions.
As part of our business strategy, we have acquired businesses that offer complementary products, services or
technologies. These acquisitions are accompanied by the risks commonly encountered in an acquisition of a
business, including:

29




the effect of the acquisition on our financial and strategic position;
the failure of an acquired business to further our strategies;
the difficulty of integrating the acquired business;
the diversion of our management’s attention from other business concerns;
the impairment of relationships with customers of the acquired business;
¢ the potential loss of key employees of the acquired company; and
¢ the maintenance of uniform, company-wide standards, procedures and policies.

These factors could have a material adverse effect on our revenues and earnings. We expect that the
consideration paid for future acquisitions, if any, could be in the form of cash, stock, rights to purchase stock, or
a combination of these. To the extent that we issue shares of stock or other rights to purchase stock in connection
with any future acquisition, existing shareholders will experience dilution and potentially decreased earnings per
share.

An Inability to Manage Growth Could Adversely Affect Qur Business

To manage our growth effectively we must continue to strengthen our operational, financial and management
information systems and expand, train and manage our work force. However, we may not be able to do so effectively
or on a timely basis. Failure to do so could have a material adverse effect upon our business, operating results or
financial condition.

We May Face Risks Associated with Events Which May Affect the World Economy

The terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001 and subsequent world events weakened the world economy. While
we did not experience any material impact to our business during the time period immediately following
September 11, 2001, we cannot assure you that the resulting impact which the terrorist attacks, threat of future
terrorist activity, the current military action in the Middle East or threat of other hostilities in the Middle East, Asia
and other geographical areas may have on the U.S. and world economies will not adversely affect our business
or the businesses of our customers.

Catastrophic Events Could Negatively Affect Our Information Technology Infrastructure

The efficient operation of our business, and ultimately our operating performance, depends on the uninterrupted
use of our critical business and information technology systems. Many of these systems require the use of specialized
hardware and other equipment that is not readily available. Although we maintain these systems at more than one
location, a natural disaster, a fire or other catastrophic event at any of these locations could result in the destruction
of these systems. In such an event, the replacement of these systems and restoration of archived data and normal
operation of our business could take several days to several weeks. During the intervening period when our critical
business and information technology systems are fully or partially inoperable, our ability to conduct normal business
operations could be significantly and adversely impacted and as a result our business, operating results and financial
conditions could be adversely affected.

Qur Success Depends on Retaining Qur Key Senior Management Team and on Attracting and
Retaining Qualified Personnel

Our future success depends, to a significant extent, upon the contributions of our executive officers and key
sales, technical and customer service personnel. Our future success also depends on our continuing ability to attract
and retain highly qualified technical and managerial personnel. Due to competition for such personnel, we have
at times experienced difficulties in recruiting qualified personnel and we may experience such difficulties in the
future. Any such difficulties could adversely affect our business, operating results or financial condition.

Our Business Depends on Proprietary Technology That We May Not be Able to Protect Completely

We rely on a combination of trade secret, copyright and trademark laws, non-disclosure and other contractual
agreements and technical measures to protect our proprietary technology. We cannot assure you that the steps we
take will prevent misappropriation of this technology. Further, protective actions we have taken or will take in the
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future may not prevent competitors from developing products with features similar to our products. In addition,
effective copyright and trade secret protection may be unavailable or limited in certain foreign countries. In response
to a request by our customer, we have also on occasion entered into agreements which require us to place our source
code in escrow to secure our service and maintenance obligations.

Further, while we believe that our products and trademarks do not infringe upon the proprietary rights of third parties,
third parties may assert infringement claims against us in the future that may result in the imposition of damages or
injunctive relief against us. In addition, any such claims may require us to enter into royalty arrangements. Any of these
results could materially and adversely affect our business, operating results or financial condition.

If OQur Third-Party Vendors Are Unable to Successfully Respond to Technological Change or if We Do
Not Maintain Gur Relationship with Third-Party Vendors, Interruptions in the Supply of Qur Products
May Resuit

Some of our software is provided by third-party vendors. If our third-party vendors are unable to successfully
respond to technological change or if our relationships with certain third-party vendors are terminated, we may
experience difficulty in replacing the functionality provided by the third-party software currently offered with our
products. Although we believe there are other sources for all of our third-party software, any significant interruption
in the supply of these products could adversely impact our sales unless and until we can secure another source.
The absence of or any significant delay in the replacement of functionality provided by third-party software in our
products could materially and adversely affect our sales.

The Results Derived from Current and Future Strategic Relationships May Prove to be Less Favorable
than Anticipated

We are involved in a number of strategic relationships with third parties and are frequently pursuing others.
Should these relationships, or any of them, prove to be more costly than anticipated or fail to meet revenue
expectations or other anticipated synergies, we cannot guarantee that such events will have no material impact upon
our business, operating results or financial condition.

Our Data Solutions are Dependent upon Strategic Relationships which, if not Maintained, Could
Undermine the Continued Viability of these Solutions

Our data and analytics solutions are sourced, in part, from data provided through strategic relationships. The
termination of any of these relationships could diminish the breadth or depth of our data solutions and we cannot
guarantee that this would not negatively impact our business, operating results or financial condition.

Federal and State Laws and Regulations Could Depress the Demand for Some of our Solutions

While we believe our data and analytics solutions are not violative of current federal or state laws and
regulations pertaining to patient privacy or health information, including the Health Insurance Portability and
Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA), we cannot guarantee that future laws or regulations or interpretations of
existing laws and statutes will not impact negatively upon our ability to market these solutions or cause a decrease
in demand for such solutions from customers that see an increased risk in any such new laws or regulations.

Difficuities in Subleasing, Selling or Gtherwise Disposing of Certain of Qur Facilities May Negatively
Impact Upon Qur Earnings

We are currently marketing our Piscataway, New Jersey facility. We also expect to sublease all or a portion
of certain other facilities. If the recent real estate downturn continues, it could negatively impact upon our ability
to effectively market these facilities. An inability to successfully dispose of any of these facilities or to obtain
favorable pricing terms could negatively impact our earnings.
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Unanticipated Changes in Our Accounting Policies May Be Required Because of Mandates by
Accounting Standards Setting Organizations and Could Have a Material Impact on Cur Financial
Statements :

In reporting our financial results we rely upon the accounting policies and standards then in effect at the time
of our report. Future regulations, standards or interpretations may require us to adjust or restate financial results
previously reported. A required restatement could have an unfavorable impact upon past financial results or current
comparison to previous results.

Provisions of Qur Charter Documents and New Jersey Law May Discourage an Acquisition of Dendrite

Provisions of cur Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, our By-laws, as amended, and New Jersey
law may make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us. For example, the Board of Directors may, without
the consent of the stockholders, issue preferred stock with rights senior to those of the common stock. In addition,
the Company has a Shareholder Rights Plan which may limit the ability of a third party to attempt a hostile
acquisition of the Company.

QOur Common Stock May Be Subject to Price Fluctuations
The market price of our common stock may be significantly affected by the following factors:
e the announcement or the introduction of new products by us or our competitors;

e quarter-to-quarter variations in our operating results or changes in revenue or earnings estimates or failure
to meet or exceed revenue or earnings estimates;

 market conditions in the technology, healthcare and other growth sectors; and

e general consolidation in the healthcare information industry which may result in the market perceiving us
or other comparable companies as potential acquisition targets.

Further, the stock market has experienced on occasion extreme price and volume fluctuations. The market
prices of the equity securities of many technology companies have been especially volatile and often have been
unrelated to the operating performance of such companies. These broad market fluctuations may have a material
adverse effect on the market price of our common stock.

ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Foreign Currency Risk

Because we have operations in a number of countries and our service agreements in such countries are
denominated in a foreign currency, we face exposure to adverse movements in foreign currency exchange rates.
As currency rates change, translation of the income statements of our international entities from local currencies
to U.S. dollars affects year-over-year comparability of operating results. We do not hedge translation risks because
we generally reinvest the cash flows from international operations.

Management estimates that a 10% change in foreign exchange rates would impact reported operating profit
by less than $500,000. This sensitivity analysis disregards the possibility that rates can move in opposite directions
and that losses from one area may be offset by gains from another area.

Interest Rate Risk

We earn interest income from our balances of cash and short-term investments. This interest income is subject
to market risk related to changes in interest rates, which primarily affects our investment portfolio. We invest in
instruments that meet high credit quality standards, as specified in our investment policy. The policy also limits
the amount of credit exposure to any one issue, issuer and type of investment.
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As of December 31, 2002, our short-term investments consisted primarily of commercial paper maturing over the
following three months. Due to the average maturity and conservative nature of our investment portfolio, a sudden change
in interest rates would not have a material effect on the value of the portfolio. Management estimates that if the average
yield of the Company’s investments decreased by 100 basis points, our interest income for the year ended December 31,
2002 would have decreased by less than $700,000. This estimate assumes that the decrease occurred on the first day
of 2002 and reduced the yield of each investment instrument by 100 basis points. The impact on our future interest
income, of future changes in investment yields will depend largely on the gross amount of our investments.

ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

The Company’s 2002 Consolidated Financial Statements, together with the report thereon of Ernst & Young
LLP, are included in Item 15. The supplementary financial information required by this Item 8 is included in the
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations” under Item 7 above.

ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

See the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-X, filed with the Commission on April 10, 2002 pertaining to
changes in the Company’s certifying accountant.
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PART IIX

ITEM 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant.

Information concerning the Company’s directors under the caption “Election of Directors” in the Company’s
Proxy Statement for the 2003 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, the information concerning the Company’s
executive officers set forth in Part I, Item 1 above under the caption “Executive Officers,” and the information under
the caption “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in the Company’s Proxy Statement for
the Company’s 2003 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, are incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 11. Executive Compensation.

The information set forth under the caption “Executive Compensation and Related Information” and the
information concerning director compensation under the caption “Director Compensation” in the Company’s Proxy
Statement for the Company’s 2003 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, are incorporated herein by reference. The
information included under “Report of the Compensation Committee”, “Report of the Audit Committee” and
“Performance Graph” is not incorporated in this Item 11.

ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters.

The information set forth under the caption “Beneficial Cwnership of Common Stock” in the Company’s Proxy
Statement for the Company’s 2003 Annual Meeting of Shareholders is incorporated herein by reference.

The following table provides equity compensation plan information as of the end of our 2002 fiscal year with
respect to compensation plans under which the Company’s equity securities are authorized for issuance:

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of securities
remaining available for

Number of securities Weighted-average future issuance under
to be issued upon exercise price of equity compensation plans
exercise of outstanding outstanding options, (excluding securities
Plan category options, warrants and rights  warrants and rights reflected in column (a))
() (b) (c)

Equity compensation plans approved

by security holders(1) ............. 6,691,993 $15.97 3,745,321(3)
EBquity compensation plans not

approved by security holders(2) ... 1,156,902 7.22 853,709
Total ... 7,848,895 14.68 4,599,030

(1) Includes the Company’s 1992 Stock Plan, 1992 Senior Management Incentive Stock Option Plan, 1997
Employee Stock Purchase Plan and 1997 Stock Incentive Plan.

(2) Includes 1994 Incentive and Non-Qualified Stock Plan of CorNet International (“CorNet Plan”), First Amended
SAI Holding, Inc. Long Term Incentive Stock Option Plan (“SAI Plan”) and New Hire Option Grant
Authorization Plan (“New Hire Plan™).

The CorNet Plan was assumed by the Company with its acquisition of CorNet International, Ltd. on May 27,
1999. 10,611 shares are available to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options under the CorNet Plan.
No securities are remaining for future issuance. The CorNet Plan is a stock option plan under which certain
options granted may qualify as incentive stock options.

The SAI Plan was assumed by the Company with its acquisition of Software Associates International on
September 19, 2002. 466,291 shares are available to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options under the
SAI Plan. 533,709 shares are remaining for future issuance. The SAI Plan is a stock option plan under which
certain options granted may qualify as incentive stock options.
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Transactions under the New Hire Plan were registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission on Form
S-8. Pursuant to and in accordance with the requirements of NASDAQ Rule 4350(i) (or any subsequent
successor NASDAQ rule permitting such new hire grants without shareholder approval), new hires may be
granted non-qualified stock options under the new hire stock option authorization by the Company’s Board
of Directors. The option exercise price will be the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the
date of the grant. The other terms and conditions of such new hire options are generally the same as for non-
qualified stock options granted under the 1997 Stock Incentive Plan, except as otherwise approved by the Board
of Directors and shall otherwise comply with current or future NASDAQ rules regarding shareholder approval
as well as, if necessary, approval by a compensation committee consisting solely of independent directors or
approval by a majority of the Company’s independent directors. The options are not subject to the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

(3) Includes 419,511 shares available for issuance under the 1997 Employee Stock Purchase Program.

ITEM 13, Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.

The information set forth under the caption “Executive Compensation and Related Information — Certain
Transactions with Related Parties” in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the Company’s 2003 Annual Meeting
of Shareholders is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. Controls and Procedures.

The Company’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer have evaluated the Company’s disclosure
controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days of the filing date of this Form 10-K and have found the disclosure
controls and procedures to be effective. There have been no significant changes in the Company’s internal controls or
in other factors that could significantly affect these internal controls subsequent to the date of their evaluation, nor were
any significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in the Company’s internal controls found.
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PART IV

ETEM 15, Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K.
(a) The following documents are filed as part of this report:
1. Financial Statements:

Report of Independent Auditors

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Statements of Operations
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial Statement Schedules:
Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Exhibits:

The exhibits in the accompanying “Exhibit Index” are incorporated herein by reference.

Reports on Form 8-K.

None
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CERTIFICATIONS

I, John E. Bailye, certify that:
1. T have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Dendrite International, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant
as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4. Theregistrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days
prior to the filing date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and

¢) Presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the
registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal controls; and

6. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether there were significant
changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the
date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and
material weaknesses.

Dated: March 31, 2003

By: JOHN E. BAILYE
[Signature]
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

38




I, Kathleen E. Donovan, certify that:
1.
2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Dendrite International, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report,

fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant
as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days
prior to the filing date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and

c) Presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the
registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal controls; and

. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether there were significant

changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the
date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and
material weaknesses.

Dated: March 31, 2003

By: KATHLEEN E. DONOVAN
[Signature]
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Dendrite International, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Dendrite International, Inc. (the Company)
and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002 and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity
and cash flows for the year then ended. Our audit also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index
at Item 15(a)2. These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audit. The
consolidated financial statements of Dendrite International, Inc. as of December 31, 2001 and for the years ended
December 31, 2001 and 2000 were audited by other auditors who have ceased operations and whose report dated
February 1, 2002 expressed an unqualified opinion on those statements before the restatement adjustments described
in Note 1.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the 2002 consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Dendrite International, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002 and the
results of their operations and cash flows for the year ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in
relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information
set forth therein.

As discussed above, the consolidated financial statements of Dendrite International, Inc. as of December 31,
2001 and for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 were audited by other auditors who have ceased
operations. As described in Note 1, in 2002 the Company adopted the provisions of EITF 01-14, “Income Statement
Characterization of Reimbursements Received for Out-of-Pocket Expenses Incurred” which requires
reclassification of comparative financial statements for prior periods. We audited the adjustments that were applied
to restate revenues and cost of revenues in the 2001 and 2000 financial statements. Gur procedures included (a)
agreeing the amount of reimbursable expenses incurred to the Company’s underlying records obtained from
management, and (b) testing the mathematical accuracy of the restated revenues and cost of revenues. In our opinion,
such adjustments are appropriate and have been properly applied. In addition, as described in Note 1, these financial
statements have been further revised to include the transitional disclosures required by Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, which was adopted by the Company as of
January 1, 2002. Qur audit procedures with respect to the disclosures in Note 1 with respect to 2001 and 2000
included (a) agreeing the previously reported net income (loss) to the previously issued financial statements and
the adjustments to reported net income (loss) representing amortization expense (including any related tax effects)
recognized in those periods related to goodwill, to the Company’s underlying records obtained from management,
and (b) testing the mathematical accuracy of the reconciliation of adjusted net income (loss) to reported net income
(loss), and the related earnings-per-share amounts. In our opinion, the disclosures for 2001 and 2000 in Note 1
are appropriate. However, we were not engaged to audit, review or apply any procedures to the 2001 or 2000
financial statements of the Company other than with respect to such adjustments and, accordingly, we do not express
an opinion or any other form of assurance on the 2001 or 2000 financial statements taken as a whole.

As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, in 2002 the Company changed its method of accounting
for goodwill.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

MetroPark, New Jersey
January 29, 2003
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THIS IS A COPY OF AN ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT PREVIOUSLY ISSUED BY
ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP, AND HAS NOT BEEN REISSUED BY ANDERSEN.
SEE EXHIBIT 23.2 FOR FURTHER INFORMATION.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
To Dendrite International, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Dendrite International, Inc. (a New Jersey
corporation) and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Dendrite International, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001, in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

/s/ Arthur Andersen LLP

Philadelphia, Pa.,
February 1, 2002
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DENDRITE INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSEDIARIKS
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In Thousands, Except Share Data)

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents ... i
Y 470 (B oo IR 1N 011 1=) 01 1S N
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $926,000 and

B736,000 ... e e
Prepaid expenses and other current assets ................ooviriiiinirinnann....
Prepaid tAKES .. .ovurnie ittt e
Deferred taKeS . .ottt e e et

Total CUITENt ASSEIS ... ittt et
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, net ...ttt it
OTHER ASSE TS i e e e
LONG-TERM RECEIVABLE ... i e
GO WL it i e e e e e e e s
INTANGIBLE ASSETS, met ..ottt
PURCHASED CAPITALIZED SOFTWARE, net .....ovvviieieieiinenanen.
CAPITALIZED SOFTWARE DEVELOPMENT COSTS, net ...ocovvivvivinn.n.
DEFE R RED TAKES .ottt et et et e e

LEABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable ... e
Income Taxes Payable ... ... i
Capital Lease Obligation ...t aeans
Accrued compensation and benefits ...
Other accrued EXPENSES ......einii ittt
Purchase accounting restructuring accrual ............ccoveviiiiiiiiniiineenann,
Accrued restructuring charge ..ot
Deferred TEVEIMUES .. ..ottt ittt e e e e

CAPITAL LEASE OBLIGATIONS ... e
OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ...

STCCKHOLDERS” EQUITY:
Preferred stock, no par value, 15,000,000 shares authorized, none issued or
OULStANAIIIE ..ottt et i et e e e e
Common stock, no par value, 150,000,000 shares authorized:
authorized; 42,156,344 and 41,598,923 shares issued; 39,933,644 and
39,653,723 shares outstanding .........ooveiiiiiiiiiii i
Retained earnings ...........oooiiiiiiii i
Deferred COMPENSAION . ...\'eretneeit ittt etier et ieeeeaareeeiieaeennnaans
Accumulated other comprehensive 10ss ...
Less treasury StoCK, @l COSL .. .iiniiir ittt ittt e,

Total stockholders” equity ... ...

Deember 31,

2002 2001
$ 68,308  $ 65494
1,295 6,383
39,853 35,009
5,922 5,258
— 3,888
3,380 6,106
6,900 8,732
125,658 130,870
26,377 23,594
753 100
6,314 —
12,353 4,830
2,973 —
2,275 —
5,605 5,518
6,168 1,571
$188476  $166.483
$ 1274 $ 2455
5,659 —
615 —
5,055 6,024
16,749 16,241
3,252 —
260 2,950
7,861 9,479
40,725 37,149
275 —
717 487
93,037 89,613
76,876 61,478
(76) (133)
(2,202) (2,704)
(20,876) (19,407)
146,759 128,847
$188476  $166.483

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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DENDRITE INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In Thousands, Except Share Data)

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
REVENUES:
| B o (= = R $ 13,507 $ 18,695 § 23,966
R 7 P 212,249 208,667 194,093
225,756 227,362 218,059
COSTS OF REVENUES:
Costof license fees ... e 4,730 4,897 3,420
Purchased software impairment ............... . oo — 2,614 —
GOt Of SBIVICES .+ttt ettt ettt et e e 106,817 117,312 91,967
111,547 124,823 95,387
GrOSS MATZIN L.ttt et e et e e e e aiarneanans 114,209 102,539 122,672
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Selling, general and adminiStrative ............coiieieiiiiiiiiiiinennnn.. 77,301 94,578 67,884
Research and development .............ccviiiiiiiiiiiiiaeiiieearennen. 10,396 11,104 10,875
Restructuring (benefit) charge ... 47 6,110 —
P B 03] o721 911111 | U O O S 1,832 11,723 —
89,482 123,515 78,759
Operating income (10SS) .....veriniien i, 24,727 (20,976) 43,913
INTEREST INCOME, Net ......ooiiiiiiitii ittt ie e, 1,085 2,439 3,541
OTHER (EXPENSE) INCOME . ... .ciiiiiiiiiiiii e (149) 3 5
Income (loss) before income tax expense (benefit) ..................... 25,663 (18,534) 47,459
INCOME TAX EXPENSE (BENEFIT) ......cciiviiiiiiie i 10,265 (6,063) 16,848
NET INCOME (LOSS) oottt et $ 15398 $(12,471) $ 30,611
NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE:
BaSIC Lot e $ 039 § ©3nH § 078
Diluted ..o e $ 038 $ (03H 3 074
SHARES USED IN COMPUTING NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE:
BaSIC L 39,872 39,681 39,354
DIluted o e 40,127 39,681 41,344

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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DENDRITE INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(In Thousands)

BALANCE, JANUARY 1,2000......
Acquisition of Analytika ..........
Issuance of common stock .........
Changes in deferred compensation ..
Stock option tax benefits ..........
Comprehensive income:

Netincome ...................
Currency translation adjustment ..

Comprehensive income .............

BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2000 ...
Purchase of treasury shares ........
Issuance of common stock .........
Changes in deferred Compensation , .
Stock option tax benefits ..........
Comprehensive loss:

Netloss .........ocoiviiiin.
Currency translation adjustment ..

Comprehensive loss ..............

BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2001 ...
Purchase of treasury shares ........
Issuance of common stock .........
Changes in deferred compensation ..
Stock option tax benefits ..........
Acquisition of SAI ...............
Stock options tax benefit adjustment .
Comprehensive income:

Netincome ...................
Currency translation adjustment ..

Comprehensive income ...........

Common Stock Retained

Deferred

Accumulated
Gther

Comprehensive Comprehensive Treasury Stockholders

Total

’

Shares Dollars Earnings Compensation Loss Income (Loss) Stock Equity
38,441 $61,550 343,338 $(777) $(1,068) — $ (1,927 $101,116
216 6,506 — — — — — 6,506
1,471 9,050 — — — — — 9,050
— — —_ 372 _ —_ — 372
— 6,264 — — — — —_ 6,264

— — 30,611 — —_ $ 30,611 — 30,611
_ — — — (621) (621 - (621)
— — — — — $ 29,990 — —
40,128 83,370 73,949 (405) (1,689) —_ (1,927) 153,298
(1,344) — —_ — — — (17,480) (17,480)
870 4,309 —_ — — —_ —_ 4,309
—_ — — 272 — — —_ 272
— 1,934 — — — — — 1,934
— — (12471) — — $(12,471) — (12,471)
— — — — (1,015) (1,015) —_ (1,015)
— — — — — $(13,486) —_ —
39,654 89,613 61478 (133) (2,704) — (19,407) 128,847
277) — —_ —_ —_ — (1,469) (1,469)
557 2,807 — —_ — — — 2,807
— — — 57 — — — 57
—_ 856 — — —_ —_ — 856
- 1,237 — — — — —_ 1,237
—  (1,476) — —_ — — — (1,476)
— — 15398 —_ — $ 15,398 —_ 15,398
- — —_ 502 502 —_ 502
—~ — — — — $ 15,900 — —
$ (76 $(2,202) — $(20,876) $146,759

BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2002 ... 39,934 $93,037 $ 76,876

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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DENDRITE INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in Thousands)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income (I0SS) ..\eveeriit it
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization .......................
Asset Impairment ........c.ovvviviiiiiiiinieeiiannanss
Restructuring (benefit) charge ........................
Amortization of deferred compensation ..............
Deferred income taxes (benefit) ......................
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effect from
acquisitions:
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable .........
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses and other
CUITENE @SSCLS .. eevnet e e tieeieaennns

Decrease (increase) in prepaid income taxes ......
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable and
accrued eXPenses ... ....iiiiiiiiiiiiiiaa,
Payments relating to restructuring charge ..........
Increase in income taxes payable ..................
(Decrease) increase in deferred revenues ..........
Increase in other non-current liabilities ............

Net cash provided by operating activities .......

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of short-term investments ....................
Sales of short-term investments ........................
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired ......................
Increase in other non-current assets ....................
Purchases of property and equipment ...................
Investment in facility held for sale .....................
Additions to capitalized software development costs ...
Net cash used in investing activities ............
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Payments on capital lease obligations ..................
Purchase of treasury shares .............................
Issuance of common stock ..................... ol
Net cash provided by (used in) financing
ACHIVILIES L. .o e
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS ... ...

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF
YEAR oo

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR ...

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001
$ 15,398 $(12,471)
14,096 14,985
1,832 14,337
47) 6,110

68 150
(469) (6,648)
(4,889) 12,847
— 1,778
(22) —
4,744 (1,483)
(5,076) 7,420
(2,643) (3,160)
4,257 —
(3,260) 5,551
200 475
24,189 39,891
(14,710) (20,230)
19,798 17,990
(13,117) —
(700) —
(11,113) (17,727)
— (10,832)

(2,678) (3,198)
(22,520) (33,997)

(330) —
(1,469) (17,480)
2,807 4,433

1,008 (13,047)

137 (583)
2,814 (7,736)
65,494 73,230

$ 68,308 $ 65,494

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2000

$ 30,611

11,060

309
(501)

(20,058)

(2,250)
(76)
4,783

(752)

111
25

23,262

(19,840)
30,920
(2,318)
(3,550)

(11,656)

(2,354)
(8,798)

(285)

9,113

8,828
(86)

23,206

50,024
$ 73,230




DENDRITE INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. THE COMPANY AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

THE COMPANY

Dendrite International, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) provide a broad array of sales force
effectiveness solutions for the global life sciences industry. These solutions enable companies to manage,
coordinate, and control activities of sales forces in complex selling environments, primarily in the pharmaceutical
industry. The Company’s solutions combine software products with a wide range of specialized support services:
software implementation, technical and hardware support, and help desk support.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Dendrite International, Inc. and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Foreign Currency

The functional currency of the Company’s foreign operations are deemed to be the local country’s currency.
As a result, assets and liabilities of the Company’s wholly-owned international subsidiaries are translated at their
respective year-end exchange rates and revenues and expenses are translated at average currency exchange rates
for the period. The resulting balance sheet translation adjustments are included in “Other Comprehensive Income
(Loss)” and are reflected as a separate component of stockholders’ equity. Foreign currency transaction gains and
losses are included in other expense on the accompanying statements of operations and are immaterial in each year.
To date, the Company has not engaged in any foreign currency hedging activities.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. On an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates its
estimates, including those related to bad debts. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and on
various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ
from those estimates. The Company believes its critical accounting policies to be revenue recognition, accounting
for restructuring and impairments and income taxes.

Revenue Recognition

The Company provides a comprehensive range of customer relationship management software products and
support services to the pharmaceutical industry. New customers generally enter into a license contract and a services
contract with the Company. The Company’s software licenses typically provide for a perpetual right to use the
Company’s software and are contracted for within a license agreement that provides for license fees billable upon
contract execution. When purchasing new software, customers also purchase implementation services, which are
essential to the functionality of the Company’s software. These services are contracted for in a services contract,
which generally provides for payment terms over the course of the implementation project.

The Company generally recognizes license fees as revenues using the percentage-of-completion method as
prescribed by AICPA Statement of Position 81-1 (“SOP 81-1”), Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type
and Certain Production-Type Contracts and pursuant to paragraph 7 of AICPA Statement of Position 97-2
(“SOP 97-27). The Company’s arrangements are segmented, in accordance with paragraphs 40 and 41 of SOP 81-1,
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DENDRITE INTERNATIONAL, ENC. AND SUBSIDIAREES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

1. THE COMPANY AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

into two primary elements or profit centers; one being the perpetual license fee and implementation service element
and the other being an ongoing sales force support services element. The Company does not defer performance
costs related to its arrangements, as revenues are generally recognized as the associated costs are incurred. The
Company uses a consistent methodology to measure progress-to-completion for all contract accounting
arrangements. For the license fee and implementation services element, the input measure of labor incurred is used
to monitor progress-to-completion. The Company uses the output measure of value delivered (i.e. completion of
a month’s services) to measure progress-to-completion for the ongoing sales force support services element in
contract accounting, partially due to the inherent difficulties in establishing input values for measuring progress-
to-completion for recurring monthly services. Under the terms of its contracts with customers, the Company does
not have the right to invoice for claims relating to overruns in its fixed fee implementation projects. To the extent
that a customer submits a signed change of scope document, the Company will add the budgeted revenues and costs
to its existing percentage-of-completion model, as a change in estimate, for that particular project. The expected
gross margin for changes of scope generally approximates that for the overall project, and therefore project revenue
recognition has not historically been impacted significantly by the addition of change of scope work orders. The
Company evaluates its contract elements for losses using the same segmentation elements that it uses for revenue
recognition. When it becomes evident that a contract element will result in a loss, the Company will provide for
this loss in the period that such loss becomes evident. Contract profitability is measured at the gross margin level,
with no allocation of overhead or other inclusion of indirect costs. The Company has offered limited price protection
under services agreements. Any right to a future refund from such price protection is entirely within the Company’s
control. It is estimated that the likelihood of a future payout due to price protection is remote.

From time to time, the Company’s customers will expand their field sales force, and consequently, purchase
additional user licenses from the Company. When the customer orders these additional licenses, there is no
additional work effort required by the Company, the customer wishes only to extend their previously developed
software to new users. The customer generally has the ability to create its own copies of the software for the new
users, and therefore, there is no need for the Company to deliver anything. Based upon this, the related revenue
is recognized at the time of the customer order.

The Company only relies on Vendor Specific Objective Evidence of fair value (“VSOE”) to allocate the portion
of the arrangement fee that relates to post-contract customer support (“PCS”). The PCS-related services offered
consist only of software maintenance and warranty services. The Company’s maintenance services consist primarily
of the correction of errors in the software and the delivery of unspecified upgrades and enhancements over the
maintenance term. The Company establishes VSOE of fair value for PCS using the maintenance renewal rate that
1s present in each of its service contracts. The Company’s maintenance is offered at a fee that is based upon a
percentage of license fees paid. All elements other than PCS are accounted for under contract accounting.

The Company will sometimes provide for a warranty period within its arrangements. The services provided
during the warranty period are the same as those provided under software maintenance. These activities include
correcting errors or bugs in the software, ensuring that the software complies with defined specifications and
providing unspecified upgrades or enhancements on a when-and-if-available basis, during the term of the warranty
period. The warranties included in the Company’s arrangements generally coincide with the length of the projected
software implementation period, typically 180 days from the execution of the license contract and always end on
a specific date. The Company allocates a portion of the related license fee revenues to the value of services during
the warranty period, and recognizes such amounts ratably over the warranty period. VSOE for the Company’s
warranty services is established using the maintenance renewal rate that is present in each of the Company’s service
contracts.

Deferred Revenues

Deferred revenues represent amounts collected from, or invoiced to, customers in excess of revenues
recognized. This predominantly occurs in two situations a) annual billings of software maintenance fees; and b)
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DENDRITE INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

i. THE COMPANY AND SUMMARY OF SIGNEIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
upfront billings of license fees that are recognized over time. The value of deferred revenue will increase and
decrease based on the timing of invoices and recognition of license revenues.
Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or

less to be cash equivalents.

Supplemental Cash Flow Information

For the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Company paid interest of approximately $15,000,
$0 and $13,000, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Company paid income
taxes of approximately $5,895,000, $3,622,000, and $11,840,000, respectively.

The following table lists assets (other than cash) that were acquired and liabilities that were assumed as a result
of the acquisitions in 2002 and 2000 as discussed in Note 4:

December 31,

2002 2000
Assets:
Accounts receivable .........eiiiiiiiiii e $ 5,792,000 $ 396,000
Prepaid expenses and other current assets ............. 398,000 381,000
Deferred taxes ..ot e e 1,402,000 —_
Property and equipment ................ooiiiiiiii.. 1,689,000 410,000
Capitalized software development costs ............... 2,441,000 2,890,000
Intangible assets ............ociiiiiiiiiiiiii i 3,142,000 —
Goodwill ... 7,523,000 5,979,000

22,387,000 10,056,000
Assumed liabilities:

Accounts payable and other accrued expenses ......... (5,604,000) (1,056,000)
Capital [eases ........ovuiiiiiiiii i (1,220,000) —
Deferred revenues ...............coci i, (1,209,000} (176,000)

Net assets acquired ..............coiiiiiiiiiiii., 14,354,000 8,824,000
Value of stock options issued ..................c..ool (1,237,000) —
Purchase price paid in stock ............ ..o, — (6,506,000)
Cash paid, net of cash acquired ....................... $13,117,000 $ 2,318,000

Short-Term Investments

The Company holds investments in highly rated corporate and municipal bonds. These investments are carried
at cost which approximates fair value.

Customer Acquisition Costs

Commissions related to execution of new contracts are deferred and recognized over the period of revenue
recognition. All other commissions are expensed as incurred. Deferred commissions at December 31, 2002 and
2001 were less than 2% of current assets.
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DENDRITE INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

i. THE COMPANY AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

In October 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standard (“SFAS”) 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” which
became effective in fiscal 2002. SFAS 144 supersedes certain provisions of Accounting Principles Board (“APB”)
Opinion 30, “Reporting the Results of Operations-Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business,
and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions” (“APB 30”) and supersedes
SFAS 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of”.
Although retaining many of the fundamental recognition and measurement provisions of SFAS 121, the new rules
significantly change the criteria that would have to be met to classify an asset as held-for-sale. The adoption of
SFAS 144 had no impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

The Company reviews its long-lived assets, including property and equipment, and intangible assets subject
to amortization for impairment whenever events or changes in circamstances indicate that the carrying amount of
the assets may not be fully recoverable. To determine the recoverability of its long-lived assets, the Company
evaluates the estimated future undiscounted cash flows that are directly associated with and that are expected to
arise as a direct result of the use and eventual disposition of the long-lived asset. If the estimated future undiscounted
cash flows demonstrate that recoverability is not probable, an impairment loss would be recognized. An impairment
loss would be calculated based on the excess carrying amount of the long-lived asset over the long-lived asset’s
fair value. See Note 3.

Property and Equipment

Fixed assets, including software developed for internal purposes, are stated at cost, net of depreciation.
Depreciation and amortization are provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the respective
assets, which range from two to ten years. Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term, whichever is shorter. Maintenance, repairs and minor
replacements that do not extend the life or functionality of the related assets are charged to expense as incurred.

Capitalized Software Development Costs

In accordance with SFAS 86, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased or Otherwise
Marketed,” the Company capitalizes certain costs related to the development of new software products or the
enhancement of existing software products for sale or license. These costs are capitalized from the point in time
that technological feasibility has been established, as evidenced by a working model or a detailed working program
design, to the point in time that the product is available for general release to customers. Capitalized software
development costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated economic lives of the products (no longer
than four years), beginning with general release to customers. Research and development costs incurred prior to
establishing technological feasibility and costs incurred subsequent to general product release to customers are
charged to expense as incurred. The Company periodically evaluates whether events or circumstances have occurred
that indicate that the remaining useful lives of the capitalized software development costs should be revised or that
the remaining balance of such assets may not be recoverable. As of December 31, 2002, management believes that
no revisions to the remaining useful lives or write-down of capitalized development costs are required.

Capitalized software development costs are presented in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets net
of accumulated amortization of $11,949,000 and $9,348,000 at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
Amortization of capitalized software development costs for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000
was $2,601,000, $2,072,000 and $1,627,000, respectively, and is included in cost of license fees in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
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In connection with certain business acquisitions (see Note 4), the Company purchased software that was
determined to have reached technological feasibility. The amount of purchased capitalized software remaining as
of December 31, 2002 and 2001 is as follows:

December 31,

2002 2001
ABC $ — $ 850,000
MMI o — 1,989,000
Analytika ... e — 2,890,000
QAL L 2,441,000 —
2,441,000 5,729,000
Less — Accumulated amortization ...........covvvvnen... (166,000) (5,729,000)

$2,275,000 $ —

During the second qguarter of 2001, the Company recorded an impairment charge relating to purchased
capitalized software costs. See Note 3.

Subsequent to the Marketing Management International, Inc. (“MMI™) acquisition, the Company decided to
offer the mid-tier pharmaceutical market a product more compatible with the Company’s vision of integrated
customer relationship management (“CRM”) solutions. Accordingly, during 2001, the Company reduced the
remaining useful life of the purchased capitalized software related to the MMI acquisition so that this asset was
fully amortized as of December 31, 2001. Amortization expense of purchased capitalized software for the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 was $166,000, $1,530,000 and $1,145,000, respectively, and is included
in cost of license fees in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations. Amortization for the year ended
December 31, 2001 included $678,000 of accelerated amortization relating to the purchased capitalized software
of MMI. See Note 3.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”(“SFAS 142”). SFAS 142
requires goodwill to be tested for impairment on an annual basis and between annual tests in certain circumstances,
and written down when impaired, rather than being amortized as previous accounting standards required.
Furthermore, SFAS 142 requires purchased intangible assets other than goodwill to be amortized over their useful
lives unless these lives are determined to be indefinite.

SFAS 142 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001. In accordance with SFAS 142, the
Company ceased amortizing goodwill. Amortization of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001
and 2000 was $0, $1,302,000, and $2,390,000, respectively and is included within selling, general and
administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Based on the impairment tests
performed, there was no impairment of goodwill in fiscal 2002; however, there can be no assurance that future
goodwill impairment tests will not result in a charge to earnings.

Purchased intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is computed over
the estimated useful lives of the respective assets, generally two to five years.
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The following table presents the impact of SFAS 142 on net income (loss) and net income (loss) per share
had the accounting standard been in effect for years ended:

December 31,

2001 2000
Net (loss) income (as reported) .........cooiiiiiiiiiier e, $(12,471,000)  $30,611,000
Add back amortization of goodwill, net of income tax effect ............. 833,000 1,530,000
Adjusted net (1088) INCOME . ... .oiiu ittt e e $(11,638,000) 32,141,000
Basic net (loss) income per common share:
Net (loss) income (as reported) .........coviiriiiiiiiieeeniiiiiiiiieeaaans $ 031 $ 0.78
Add back amortization of goodwill, net of income tax effect ............. 0.02 0.04
Adjusted net (108S) IMCOME ...\ ottt e $ 029 $ 0.82
Diluted net (loss) income per common share:
Net (loss) income (as reported) .........ovviviviireriiieieiieiiaiiiiieinnns $ 03 §% 0.74
Add back amortization of goodwill, net of income tax effect ............. 0.02 0.04
Adjusted net (1088) INCOME . ....oiuti it e e $ 029 § 0.78

In the second quarter of 2001, the Company determined that the future undiscounted cash flows from goodwill
associated with its acquisitions of Associated Business Computing, N.V. (“ABC”) and Analytika, Inc. (“Analytika”)
would be negative, due primarily to the lack of future revenue to be generated and the costs required to support
current contractual levels (see Note 3). Accordingly, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $6,173,000
relating to the goodwill of ABC and Analytika to reduce the respective net intangible assets to zero. This impairment
charge is included within asset impairment in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Guarantees

The Company provides certain indemnification provisions within its software licensing agreements, to protect
its customers from any liabilities or damages resulting from a claim of misappropriation or infringement by third
parties relating to its software. These provisions continue in perpetuity, along with the Company’s software licensing
agreements. The Company has never incurred a liability relating to one of these indemnification provisions in the
past and management believes that the likelihood of any future payout relating to these provisions is remote.
Therefore, the Company has not recorded a liability during any period for these indemnification clauses.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with SFAS 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes”. Under
SFAS 109, deferred tax assets and liabilities are based on differences between the financial reporting and tax basis
of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates that are expected to be in effect when the
differences reverse. In addition, in accordance with SFAS 109, a valuation allowance is required to be recognized
if it is not believed to be “more likely than not” that a deferred tax asset will be realized.

At December 31, 2002, there were approximately $5,479,000 of undistributed earnings of non-U.S.
subsidiaries that are considered to be reinvested indefinitely. If such earnings were remitted to the Company, the
applicable United States federal income and foreign withholding taxes may be wholly or partially offset by foreign
tax credits. As a result, the determination of potential U.S. deferred income taxes on these unremitted earnings is
not practicable at December 31, 2002.
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Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk consist principally
of cash and short-term investment balances and trade accounts receivable. The Company invests its excess cash
with large banks. The Company’s customer base principally comprises companies within the ethical pharmaceutical
industry. As a result, the Company derives its revenues from a limited number of large pharmaceutical companies.
The Company performs evaluations of its customers’ financial condition. The Company does not require collateral
from its customers. See Note 17.

Stock Based Compensation

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition
and Disclosure” (“SFAS 1487). SFAS 148 amends SFAS 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”
(“SFAS 123”) to provide alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based methed
of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. In addition, SFAS 148 amends the disclosure requirements
of SFAS 123 to require more prominent disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements about the method
of accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results. The
additional disclosure requirements of SFAS 148 are effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002. The
Company has elected to continue to follow the intrinsic value method of accounting as prescribed by APB 23,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” to account for employee stock options. In accordance with SFAS 148
the following table illustrates the effects on net income/ (loss) and income/(loss) per share if the Company had
applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123 to stock-based employee compensation:

December 31,

2002 2001 2000
Net income (loss) as reported ..........ccoveviierennen. $ 15,398,000 $(12,471,0000 $ 30,611,000
Add: Deferred compensation recognized in accordance
with APB 25, net of related tax effects ................... 41,000 96,000 198,000
Deduct:
Total stock-based employee compensation expense
determined under the fair value based method for all
awards, net of related tax effects ..................... (15,126,000) (17,468,000) (12,789,000)
Pro forma net income (I0SS) ......c.vvvvivineinninnn... $ 313,000 $(29,843,000)  $ 18,020,000
Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic — asreported ........oooiiiiiiii e $ 039 § 0.31) § 0.78
Basic — pro forma ..........coooviiiiiiiii i $ 0.01 $ 0.75) % 0.46
Diluted — as reported ............coooiiiiiiiiiiin. . $ 0.38 $ (031) % 0.75
Diluted — pro forma ..............cciiiiiiiiiniiin... $ 0.01 $ 0.75) % 0.44

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expense was $3,245,000, $4,351,000 and $1,755,000
for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
Net Income (Loss) Per Share

The Company calculates net income (loss) per share pursuant to SFAS 128, “Earnings Per Share”.

Basic net income (loss) per share was computed by dividing the net income (loss) for each year by the weighted
average number of shares of common stock outstanding for each year. Diluted net income per share was computed
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by dividing net income for each year by the weighted average number of shares of common stock and common
stock equivalents outstanding during each year. For the year ended December 31, 2001, approximately 601,000

common stock equivalents were anti-dilutive and were, therefore, excluded from the computation of net loss per
share.

The computation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000

Per Per
Income Shares Share Loss Shares Share Income Shares Per Share
{(Numerator) (Denominator) Amount (Numerator) (Denominator) Amount (Numerator) (Denominator) Amount

(In Thousands, Except Per Share Data)

Net income

(loss) ..... $15,398 $(12,471) $30,611
Basic net

income

(loss) per

share ..... 39,872 $0.39 39,681 $(0.31) 39,354 $0.78
Effect of

dilutive

stock

options . .. 255 — 1,990
Diluted net

income

(loss) per

share ..... 40,127 $0.38 39,681 $(0.31) 41,344 30.74

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year amounts to conform with current year presentation.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities”
effective for exit or disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. SFAS 146 nullifies Emerging Issues Task
Force (“EITF”) Issue 94-3 “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to
Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring).” Under SFAS 146 a liability for a cost
associated with an exit or disposal activity shall be recognized and measured initially at its fair value in the period
in which the liability is incurred rather than the date an entity commits to an exit plan. We expect the adoption
of SFAS 146 will have an impact on the timing of the recording of any future restructuring charges.

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements
for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others” (FIN 45). FIN 45 changes current practice
in the accounting for, and disclosure of, guarantees. The Interpretation requires certain guarantees to be recorded
at fair value, which is different from current practice, which is generally to record a liability only when a loss is
probable and reasonably estimable, as those terms are defined in FASB Statement 5, “Accounting for Contingencies”
(SFAS 5). The Interpretation also requires a guarantor to make significant new disclosures, even when the likelihood
of making any payments under the guarantee is remote, which is another change from current practice. The Company
has not issued any guarantee that meets the initial recognition and measurement requirements of FIN 45. The
Company has adopted the disclosure requirements of FIN 45 for the year ended December 31, 2002, as required.

In November 2002, the FASB issued EITF Issues 00-21, “Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with
Multiple Deliverables” (EITF 00-21). EITF 00-21 addresses the accounting for arrangements that involve the
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delivery or performance of multiple products, services or rights to use assets. This consensus is applicable to
arrangements entered into on or after June 15, 2003 and requires companies to account for existing arrangements
as the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principles in accordance with APB Cpinion 20, “Accounting
Changes.” The Company is currently assessing the impact of EITF 00-21, but does not believe that it will have
a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In November 2001, the FASB issued EITF 01-14, “Income Statement Characterization of Reimbursements
Received for ”Out-of-Pocket” Expenses Incurred” (EITF 01-14). EITF 01-14 requires that in cases where the
contractor acts as a principal, reimbursements received for out-of-pocket expenses incurred be characterized as
revenue and the associated costs be included as cost of services in the income statement. The Company applied
EITF 01-14 and, as required, has reclassified comparative financial information for the years ended December 31,
2001 and 2000. The impact of applying this pronouncement was to increase both revenues and cost of services
by $3,989,000, $3,405,000 and $3,733,000 for the years December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The
implementation of EITF 01-14 had no impact upon earnings.

2. RESTRUCTURING CHARGE

On June 14, 2001, the Company announced a restructuring of its business operations to reflect a lower expected
revenue growth model in the near term. As a result the Company re-examined its cost structure and determined
that there were duplicate employee costs and excess overhead costs. The restructuring plan consisted of a reduction
of 155 delivery and staff positions and the termination of 35 independent contractors across various departments
in the United States and Europe. In addition, 192 additional positions were eliminated as part of the closing of other
Company facility in Stroudsburg, PA. The Stroudsburg, PA operations were relocated to the Company’s facilities
in New Jersey, Virginia and a new facility in Bethlehem, PA. The exit costs consisting of costs to retrofit the
Stroudsburg facility, lease termination costs and the write-off of leasehold improvements were included in the
restructuring charge while the moving and other start-up costs were not included in this restructuring charge and
were expensed as incurred.

During the second quarter of 2001, the Company recorded a charge of $6,134,000 associated with this
restructuring. This charge was reduced by $24,000 to $6,110,000 in the fourth quarter of 2001 due to the variance
between the amounts originally recorded and management’s revised estimate of the total costs of the restructuring.
This reduction of $24,000 was recorded within restructuring charge on the accompanying consolidated statements
of operations. During the fourth quarter of 2002, the Company again reduced the restructuring accrual by an
additional $47,000 due to a revised estimate of the total costs of the restructuring. Of the restructuring charge,
$260,000 and $2,950,000 related primarily to severance that had not been paid as of December 31, 2002 and 2001,
respectively and, accordingly, is classified as accrued restructuring charge in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheet. The restructuring charges were based upon formal plans approved by the Company’s management
using the information available at the time. Management of the Company believes this provision will be adequate
to cover the costs incurred relating to the restructuring. The Company anticipates that the accrued restructuring
balance of $260,000 as of December 31, 2002 will be paid in 2003. The activity in accrued restructuring for the
periods ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 is summarized in the tables below:
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Accrued Accrued
Restructuring Restructuring
as of Cash Reversal of as of
January 1, Payments accrual December 31,
2002 in 2002 in 2002 2002
Termination payments to employees ................ $2,218,000  $1,911,000  $(47,000) $260,000
Facility eXit COStS .. .viriri i 495,000 495,000 — —
Contract termination and ther restructuring costs ... 237,000 237,000 — —
$2,950,000  $2,643,000  $(47,000) $260,000
Accrued
Restructuring
Cash as of
Restructuring Payments December 31,
Charge in 2001 2001
Termination payments to employees ................ $5,064,000  $2,846,000 $2,218,000
Facility exit COStS ........vvviiiiniiiiiiiniiieeneen. 623,000 128,000 495,000
Contract termination and ther restructuring costs ... 423,000 186,000 237,000
$6,110,000 $3,160,000 $2,950,000

3. ASSET IMPAIRMENTS

During the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company reviewed the carrying values of its long-lived assets,
including its minority investments in start-up ventures, identifiable intangibles and goodwill. In connection with
the Company’s investments in two start-up ventures, the Company followed APB 18, “The Equity Method of
Accounting for Investments in Common Stock”, which states that when a series of operating losses of an investee
or other factors indicate that a decrease in value of the investment has occurred which is other than temporary, an
impairment should be recognized. During the review of both start-up ventures, the Company became aware of a
series of operating losses and the need of each start-up venture to obtain additional financing to continue operations
which became especially severe in the second quarter of 2001. In addition, prior to the end of 2001 both start-up
ventures filed for bankruptcy. As a result, during the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company wrote off

$3,450,000 of cost method investments in these two start-up ventures due to an other than temporary decline in
the fair value of these investments.

As part of its partnership with Oracle Corporation the Company announced on June 14, 2001 its intention
to market an integrated CRM solution to meet the specialized needs of the worldwide pharmaceutical industry. As
a result, the Company’s vision and product platform changed. The Company determined that it would no longer
offer the Analytika and ABC products, but would continue to support both products until existing customer contract
terms expired. As a result, no revenues were forecasted for either product for the future other than those under
existing contracts. Further, despite the lack of future revenue the Company needed to maintain the infrastructure
required to support our Analytika and ABC product for the term of each contract. Since the forecasted revenue
base was significantly reduced yet the infrastructure and administrative costs remained relatively fixed, these
operations transitioned from positive to negative cash flows. In accordance with SFAS 121 the Company reviewed
the future undiscounted net cash flows of the ABC and Analytika products and determined the cash flows to be
negative due to the fact the projected revenue generated from new sales for each operation was zero. As a result,
all of the goodwill associated with ABC and Analytika was impaired during the quarter ended June 30, 2001.

Accordingly, the Company recorded a goodwill impairment charge of $6,173,000 during the year ended
December 31, 2001.

During the third quarter of 2002 and the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company recorded an asset impairment
of $1,832,000 and $2,100,000, respectively, related to a facility held for sale. See Note 7.
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On September 19, 2002, the Company acquired Software Associates International (“SAI”), a privately held
company based in New Jersey. SAI provided software products and solutions that enabled corporate-wide sales
and marketing analysis and complements the CRM initiatives of pharmaceutical companies. These solutions are
generally complementary to the Company’s core suite of business products. The results of SAI’s operations have
been included in the Consolidated Financial Statements since the acquisition date.

The aggregate purchase price was approximately $16,739,000 which included: cash of approximately
$15,092,000 (approximately $1,600,000 in escrow as of December 31, 2002); accrued professional service fees
of approximately $410,000 and options to purchase Dendrite common stock valued at approximately $1,237,000.
The fair value of the stock options was estimated using the Black-Scholes valuation model. The Company is in
the process of finalizing a third-party valuation of certain intangible assets, its evaluation of acquired facilities and
personnel for redundancy, and therefore, the purchase price allocation is preliminary and subject to adjustment.

The Company recorded $7,523,000 of goodwill and $4,694,000 of acquired intangible assets, of which
approximately $732,000 was assigned to registered trademarks that are not subject to amortization. The remaining
$3,962,000 of acquired intangible assets includes purchased software development costs of approximately
$2,441,000 (4 year estimated useful life), approximately $328,000 of non-compete agreements (3 year estimated
useful life) and approximately $1,193,000 of customer relationship assets (3 year estimated useful life). The
weighted-average amortization period for the intangible assets subject to amortization is approximately 3 years.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair value of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed in
connection with the SAI acquisition:

CUITENE ASSELS ettt et et e e e e e e e et $ 8,358,000
Property, plant, and equipment ............. ... 1,659,000
Intangible assets ..........ccoiiiiii i 4,694,000
GoOdWill ..o e 7,523,000
Deferred tax @SSelS . .v vttt ittt e 1,402,000
Other NON-CUITENT ASSELS ... ..'u'irerit et eereariarann, 217,000

Total assets acquired ...........c.oociiiiiii i 23,853,000
Current liabilities ......... .. i 3,205,000
Purchase restructuring reserve ....................... e 3,252,000
Lease Obligations — LT ..ot e 657,000

Total Liabilities assumed ... ...t 7,114,000

Net assets acquired ............oiiuiiiiiiii $16,739,000

On August 12, 2002, the Company acquired Pharma Vision LLC (“Pharma Vision”) for cash consideration
of approximately $700,000 which includes approximately $50,000 of professional service fees. Pharma Vision
collected and sold data for customer targeting that pharmaceutical representatives use in Europe and support to
pharmaceutical customers in Belgium and The Netherlands. The results of Pharma Vision’s operations have been
included in the Consolidated Financial Statements from the date of acquisition.

On January 6, 2000, the Company purchased all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities of Analytika,
Inc., a provider of advanced analytical products, consulting services and outsourced operations services to the
pharmaceutical industry. Under the terms of the acquisition agreement, the Company paid $2,318,000 in cash, which
included transaction costs, and Dendrite common stock valued at $6,506,000. The acquisition was accounted for
using the purchase method with the purchase price allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based
on their respective fair market values at the acquisition date. Of the purchase price, $2,890,000 was allocated to
purchased capitalized software development costs. The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net
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assets acquired was allocated to goodwill ($5,979,000) based upon a third-party appraisal. Analytika’s results of
operations have been included in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements from the date of acquisition.

The Company’s unaudited pro forma results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and
2000 assuming that the acquisition of SAI described above occurred on January 1, 2000 are as follows (in thousands,
except per share data):

December 31,
2002 2001 2000(A)
Revenue ........coviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinennn, $240,096 $249,013 $239,115
Net Income/(Loss) ........covviiiineiiinnn.. 15,101 (12,114) 33,295
Basic Income/(Loss) per share .................. $ 038 $ (031) $ 085

Diluted Income/(Loss) per share ................ $ 038 $ (03D $ 0381

(A) Net income includes a gain recognized by SAI on the sale of common units in a subsidiary, net of tax, of
approximately $2,100,000.

5. PURCHASE ACCOUNTING RESTRUCTURING ACCRUAL

In connection with the acquisition of SAI, discussed in Note 4, the Company developed an exit plan to close
the facility in Mt. Arlington, New Jersey and to relocate the operations to the Company’s facilities in New Jersey.
The Company accrued as part of the acquisition costs, the costs to terminate certain leases amounting to $3,252,000.
The Company anticipates finalizing the close of the facility during the first quarter of 2003. As of December 31,
2002, the Company has made no payments or adjustments to the accrual.

6. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

December 31,

2002 2001
Computer hardware, software and other equipment .... $ 38,127,000 $ 32,971,000
Furniture and fixtures ...t 5,149,000 3,917,000
Leasehold improvements .............coovvvevneuininnnn. 13,942,000 10,839,000
Capital Leases ........cooviveiiiiiiiiii i 992,000 —
58,210,000 47,727,000
Less — Accumulated depreciation and Amortization .. .. (31,833,000) (24,133,000)

$ 26,377,000 $ 23,594,000

Depreciation expense, including amortization expense of capital leases, for the years ended December 31,
2002, 2001 and 2000 was $11,161,000, $10,082,000 and $5,898,000, respectively.

7. FACILITY HELD FOR SALE

In April 2001, the Company paid $10,832,000 to purchase a 145,000 square foot building in New Jersey for
the purpose of establishing a new U.S. operations facility to accommodate the Company’s growth. In connection
with its 2001 restructuring, the Company made the decision to shift its operations to other existing facilities and
therefore decided to sell the new facility (see Note 2). This building is classified as facility held for sale in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. This facility has been actively for sale since the second quarter of 2001.
Due to economic events, and the related impact on the value of real estate, the Company recorded an asset
impairment of $2,100,000 to reduce the carrying value of this facility to its estimated fair market value during the
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fourth quarter of 2001. During the third quarter of 2002, the Company determined an additional impairment existed
due to the continued increase in vacancy rates in the surrounding area. Accordingly, the carrying value of the facility
held for sale was adjusted the new fair value less costs to sell of approximately $6,900,000, based upon a third
party valuation. The resulting $1,832,000 impairment loss is included in the asset impairment charge within the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations. See Note 3.

8. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Effective July 1, 2001 the Company adopted SFAS 141, “Business Combinations,” and effective January 1,
-2002 the Company adopted SFAS 142, “Goodwill and other Intangible Assets.”. SFAS 141 requires business
combinations initiated after June 30, 2001 to be accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. It also
specifies the types of acquired intangible assets that are required to be recognized and reported separate from
goodwill. SFAS 142 requires that goodwill and certain intangibles no longer be amortized, but instead tested for
impairment at least annually. SFAS 142 also requires that intangible assets with finite useful lives be amortized
over their respective estimated useful lives and reviewed for impairment in accordance with SFAS 121, which was
superceded by SFAS 144. Based on the Company’s analysis, there was no impairment of goodwill upon adoption
of SFAS 142 on January 1, 2002. The Company conducts its annual impairment testing of goodwill on October 1
of each year. For the year ended December 31, 2002 there was no impairment recorded.

The total gross carrying amount and accumulated amortization for goodwill and intangible assets are as follows:

As of December 31, 2002 As of December 31, 2001
Accumulated Accumulated
Gross Amortization Net Gross Amortization Net
INTANGIBLE ASSETS SUBJECT TO
AMORTIZATION .
Purchased capitalized software ............. $ 2,441,000 $ 166,000 $ 2,275,000 — — —_
Capitalized software development costs ...... 17,546,000 11,941,000 5,605,000 $14,866,000 $ 9,348,000 $ 5,518,000
Customer relationship assets ............... 1,193,000 132,000 1,061,000 — — —
Non-compete covenants .. ................. 1,217,000 37,600 1,180,000 — — —
Total ... .. 22,397,000 12,276,000 10,121,000 14,866,000 9,348,000 5,518,000
INTANGIBLE ASSETS NOT SUBJECT TO
AMORTIZATION
Goodwill ... ... ... ... 12,353,000 12,353,000 7,235,000 2,405.000 4,830,000
Trademarks .. .....c.oieeeniinnnenninnnns 732,000 — 732,000 — — —
Total .o 13,085,000 13,085,000 7,235,000 2,405,000 4,830,000
Total goodwill and intangible assets ......... $35,482,000 $12,276,000 $23,206,000 $22,101,000 $11,753,000 $10,348,000

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the year ended December 31, 2002 are as follows:

Balance as of January 1, 2002 ... ... ... $ 4,830,000
Goodwill acqUIred . ... ... e e 7,523,000
Balance as of December 31, 2002 .. ...ttt $12,353,000

Aggregate annual amortization expense for intangible assets is estimated to be:

Year ending December 31,

200 L e e $4,253,000
200 e e e e 3,468,000
205 e e e e 1,726,000
2000 oL e 674,000
2007 e e e —
Thereafter . . .o e e —
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9. LONG TERM RECEIVABLE

During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company recorded a long term receivable of $6,314,000 from
a major U.S. pharmaceutical company as part of a five-year contract. This long term receivable will be paid as the
scheduled maturities come due through January 2005. The Company has imputed interest and accordingly, interest
income will be recognized as earned within interest income on the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

10. NOTE RECEIVABLE FROM OFFICER OF THE COMPANY

In May 2002, the Company entered into a note receivable with an officer of the Company in the amount of
$500,000 in connection with his relocation. The principal is secured by real estate and marketable securities and
payable in four installments through December 31, 2005. Interest will be calculated on the principal balance and
paid with each installment payment at a rate equal to 7.25% per annum. The note receivable is included within
Other Assets on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet.

11. REVOLVING CREDIT

The Company maintains a revolving line of credit agreement with The Chase Manhattan Bank, N.A., which
provides for borrowings of up to $15,000,000 and is available to finance working capital needs and possible future
acquisitions. The agreement requires, among other covenants, that the Company maintain a minimum consolidated
net worth, measured quarterly, equal to $105,000,000 plus 50% of the Company’s net income earned after January 1,
2002, and 75% of the net proceeds to the Company of any stock offerings after September 30, 2001. This covenant
has the effect of limiting the amount of cash dividends the Company may pay. As of December 31, 2002 and 2001,
approximately $31,092,000 and $23,013,000, respectively, were available for the payment of dividends under this
covenant. The line of credit expires on November 30, 2003. The Company has never had any borrowings under
this revolving line of credit.

As of December 31, 2002, the Company also had letters of credit for approximately $475,000 outstanding.

12, INCOME TAXES
The components of income before income tax expense (benefit) were as follows:

December 31,

2002 2001 2000
Domestic .......ooviiiiiii e $18,869,000 $(18,259,000)  $46,227,000
Foreign ... 6,794,000 (275,000) 1,232,000
$25,663,000 $(18,534,000)  $47,459,000
The components of income taxes were as follows:
December 31,
2602 2001 2000
Current Provision (Benefit):
Federal ... $ 4,594,000 $(1,034,000) $14,588,000
SEAE .« 1,628,000 256,000 1,453,000
Foreign ..o 3,911,000 2,495,000 1,075,000
10,133,000 1,717,000 17,116,000
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12. INCOME TAXES (Continued)
December 31,
2002 2001 2000
‘Deferred Provision (Benefit):

Federal ........ccoiiiiiiii i 354,000 (5,195,000) (777,000)
N 7 1 (86,000) (1,320,000) (307,000)
Foreign ......ovvviiiii it (136,000) (1,265,000) 816,000
132,000 (7,780,000) (268,000)
$10,265,000 $(6,063,000) $16,848,000

The reconciliation of the statutory Federal income tax rate to the Company’s effective income tax rate is as

follows:

Federal statutory tax rate
Difference between U.S. and non-U.S. rates

State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit
Nondeductible expenses
Tax credits utilized
Other

December 31,

2002 2061 2000
35.0% (35.00%  35.0%
4.2 4.8 0.8
5.1 (3.5) 1.6
0.3 2.9 0.7
(6.5) 2.7) (1.3)
_1.9 8 a3
40.0% (2% 35.5%

The tax effect of temporary differences that give rise to deferred income assets and liabilities is as follows:

Gross deferred tax asset:
Depreciation and amortization
Foreign net operating losses
State net operating losses
Federal capital loss carryover

Federal foreign tax credit carryover
Accruals and reserves not currently deductible
Other

Less: Valuation allowance

Gross deferred tax liability:
Capitalized software development costs
Other

December 31,

2002 2001

$ 1,502,000 $ 2,165,000
3,225,000 2,984,000
2,846,000 2,807,000
1,208,000 333,000
763,000 —
4,424,000 4,360,000
1,614,000 2,065,000
15,582,000 14,714,000
(4,482,000) (3,336,000)
$11,100,000 $11,378,000

$(1,552,000)

$(1,552,000)

$(1,949,000)
(1,752,000)

$(3,701,000)

As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company has recorded a valuation allowance against its net deferred
tax assets of approximately $4,482,000 and $3,336,000 respectively. The valuation allowance relates primarily to
the state net operating loss carryforwards, foreign tax credit carryforwards and capital loss carryforwards.
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12. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

As of December 31, 2002, the Company has available state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately
$35,000,000 and foreign net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $8,600,000 which expire in varying
amounts beginning in 2003 through 2022. Additionally, the Company also has available foreign tax credit
carryforwards of approximately $763,000 which expire in 2007.

13. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

STOCK OPTION PLANS

The Company has various stock option plans (the “Plans”) that provide for the granting of options, the awarding
of stock and the purchase of stock. Under the Plans, the total number of shares of common stock that may be granted
is 14,050,002. During 2002, the Company obtained shareholder approval to increase the number of options available
under the Plans by 1,500,000 shares to 15,550,002 shares. Options granted under the Plans generally vest over
a four-year period and are exercisable over a period not to exceed ten years as determined by the Board of Directors.
Incentive stock options are granted at fair value. Nonqualified options are granted at exercise prices determined
by the Board of Directors.

Information with respect to the options under the Plans is as follows:

Weighted
Average
Shares Exercise Price
Outstanding December 31, 1999 ........................ 6,258,155 $ 10.56
Granted ... e 2,531,396 24.91
Exercised ... (1,569,016) (7.10)
Canceled ... (671,509) (16.72)
Outstanding December 31, 2000 ...................oooe 6,549,026 16.54
Granted ... 2,474,754 12.46
Exercised .. ... (785,285) (5.57)
Canceled ... (666,820) (22.58)
Outstanding December 31, 2001 ......................... 7,571,675 15.88
Granted ... 2,023,871 10.03
Exercised ..ot (407,373) (4.44)
Canceled .. ...t (1,339,278) (17.47)
Outstanding December 31, 2002 ..................... 7,848,895 $ 14.68

At December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 there were 4,871,509, 3,361,772 and 2,325,272 options exercisable
with a weighted average exercise price of $14.81, $14.92 and $9.95, respectively. As of December 31, 2002 there
were 4,556,786 shares available for future grants under the Plans.

The Company has adopted the disclosure requirements of SFAS 123 as amended by SFAS 148. The Company
applies APB 25 and related interpretations in accounting for stock options granted under the Plans. Accordingly,
compensation cost has been computed for the Plans based on the intrinsic value of the stock option at the date of
grant, which represents the difference between the exercise price and the fair value of the Company’s stock. As
the exercise price of all stock options granted equaled the fair value of the Company’s stock at the date of option
issuance, no compensation cost has been recorded in the accompanying statements of operations. The pro forma
information presented in Note 1 has been determined as if employee stock options were accounted for under the
fair value method of SFAS 123. The fair value for these options were estimated at the date of grant using a Black-
Scholes option pricing model with the following assumption:
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13. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (Continued)

December 31,
2002 2001 2000
Expected dividend yield ........................ 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Expected stock price volatility .................. 80.0% 80.0% 70.0%
Risk free interest rate ......................oov.. 3.8% 4.7% 5.5%
Expected life of the option ...................... 6 yrs 6 yrs 6 yrs

The weighted average fair value of options granted was $7.98, $8.96 and $17.26 for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Information with respect to the options outstanding under the Plans at December 31, 2002 is as follows:

Weighted Average Number
Weighted Average Remaining Contractual  of Vested
Exercise Per Share Shares Exercise Price Life (in years) Shares

$0.00-83.32 .. 41,112 $ 2.50 3.0 41,112
$3.33-86.64 ... 956,052 6.04 35 916,052
$6.65-89.95 ... 1,508,666 8.18 6.8 758,993
$9.96-813.27 ... 1,783,354 12.08 7.9 627,530
$13.28-816.60 ....coiviiiii 556,336 14.94 6.1 446,437
$16.61-81991 ... .. 1,238,496 17.66 6.6 953,176
$19.92-823.23 ... 630,531 21.70 7.9 333,797
$23.24-826.55 ..o 529,070 23.62 7.0 364,116
$26.56-529.87 ... 169,200 27.32 7.3 113,745
$29.88-$34.00 ......oiiiiii 436,078 33.16 6.6 316,551
7,848,895 $14.68 6.6 4,871,509

EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN

In 1997, the Company established an employee stock purchase plan that provides full-time employees the
opportunity to purchase shares at 85% of fair value on dates determined by the Board of Directors, up to a maximum
10% of their eligible compensation or $21,250, whichever is less. During 2002, the Company obtained shareholder
approval to increase the number of authorized shares available for purchase under this plan from 450,000 to
900,000, of which 150,048, 156,876 and 93,687 were purchased in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. There were
419,511 and 119,559 shares available for issuance under the plan as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

ANNIVERSARY STOCK PROGRAM
The Company grants 200 shares of the Company’s common stock to all employees who commenced

employment prior to December 31, 1998 in July following their fifth anniversary of employment. The cost of the
anniversary stock plan is accrued over the employment period of the employees.

COMMON STOCK REPURCHASE PROGRAM

On January 31, 2001, the Company announced that its Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase
program of up to $20,000,000 of its outstanding common stock over a two-year period (the “2001 Stock Repurchase
Plan”). As of December 31, 2001, the Company has repurchased a total of 1,343,700 shares under the 2001 Stock
Repurchase Plan for a total value of $17,480,000. COn July 29, 2002, the Board of Directors cancelled the 2001
Stock Repurchase Plan.

On July 31, 2002, the Company announced that its Board of Directors had authorized the Company to
repurchase up to $20,000,000 of its outstanding common stock over a two-year period (the “2002 Stock Repurchase
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Plan”). Under the 2002 Stock Repurchase Plan, the Company will repurchase shares on the open market or in
privately negotiated transactions from time to time. Repurchases of stock under the 2002 Stock Repurchase Plan
are at management’s discretion, depending upon price and availability. The repurchased shares are held as treasury
stock, which may be used to satisfy the Company’s requirements under its equity incentive and other benefit plans
and for other corporate purposes. As of December 31, 2002, the Company has repurchased under the 2002 Stock
Repurchase Plan 277,500 shares of the Company’s common stock at a purchase price of approximately $1,469,000.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS PLAN

On February 16,2001, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted a shareholder rights plan (the “Rights Plan™).
The Rights Plan is designed to deter coercive or unfair takeover tactics and to prevent a person or group from
acquiring control of the Company without offering a fair price to all shareholders. The adoption of the Rights Plan
was not in response to any known effort to acquire control of the Company.

Under the Rights Plan, each shareholder of record on March 5, 2001 received a distribution of one Right for
each share of common stock of the Company (‘“Rights”). At present, the Rights are represented by the Company’s
common stock certificates, are not traded separately from the common stock and are not exercisable. The Rights
will become exercisable only if a person acquires, or announces a tender offer that would result in ownership of
15% or more of the Company’s common stock, at which time each Right would enable the holder to buy one one-
hundredth of a share of the Company’s Series A preferred stock at an exercise price of $120, subject to adjustment.
Following the acquisition of 15% or more of the Company’s common stock, the holders of Rights (other than the
acquiring person or group) will be entitled to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock at one-half of the
market price, and in the event of a subsequent merger or other acquisition of the Company, to buy shares of common
stock of the acquiring entity at one-half of the market price of those shares.

The Company may redeem the Rights for $0.01 per Right, subject to adjustment, at any time before the
acquisition by a person or group of 15% or more of the Company’s ordinary shares. The Rights will expire on
February 20, 2011.

14. SAVINGS AND DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLANS

The Company maintains Employee Savings Plans (the “Plans”) that cover substantially all of its full-time U.S.,
U.K. and Belgium employees. All eligible employees may elect to contribute a portion of their wages to the Plans,
subject to certain limitations. In addition, the Company contributes to the plans at the rate of 50% of the employee’s
contributions up to a maximum of 3% of the employee’s salary. The Company’s contributions to the Plans were
$1,233,000, $1,191,000 and $773,000 in the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

The Company also maintains a noncontributory pension plan that covers substantially all of its full-time
Japanese employees. All contributions to this pension plan are made by the Company in accordance with prescribed
statutory requirements. The Company’s contributions to the plan were $169,000, $24,000 and $421,000 for the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

In 1998, the Company created a deferred compensation plan. Under the plan, eligible, highly compensated
employees (as defined) can elect to defer a portion of their compensation and determine the nature of the
investments, which will be used to calculate earnings on the deferred amounts.

15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company leases office facilities and equipment under various capital and operating leases with remaining
lease terms generally in excess of one year. Rent expense was $11,438,000, $10,547,000 and $8,410,000 for the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Future minimum rental payments on these leases
including amounts accrued for in purchase accounting restructuring accruals are as follows:
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Capital Leases Operating Leases

2003 L e $659,000 $ 9,784,000
2004 258,000 7,637,000
200 32,000 4,102,000
2000 e e e — 3,391,000
2007 e e — 2,955,000
Thereafter ..o s — 10,342,000

Total .. e 949,000 $38,211,000
Less: Amount representing interest .............ooceeviiiiiinn... 59,000
Present value of net minimum lease payments ................... 890,000
Less: Current portion of obligation under capital leases .......... 615,000
Obligations under capital leases, excluding current portion ...... $275,000

From time to time, the Company is involved in certain legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business.
In the Company’s opinion, the outcome of such actions will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
financial position or results of operations.

The Company has employment agreements with certain officers that provide for, among other things, salary,
bonus, severance and change in control provisions.

The Company has an agreement with a venture capital fund with a commitment to contribute $1,000,000 to
the fund, callable in $100,000 increments. As of December 31, 2002, $300,000 has been paid with $700,000 of
commitment remaining. The agreement has a termination date of December 11, 2010, subject to extension by the
limited partners.

16. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

For the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Company incurred approximately $434,000,
$304,000 and $257,000, respectively, of costs for rental and use of aircraft for Company business payable to certain
third party charter companies. While none of these third party charter companies are affiliated with the Company
or any of its officers or directors, in some instances, the aircraft provided by these third party companies was leased
from an entity whose members are the Company’s Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and his spouse. As of
December 31, 2002 and 2001 approximately $0 and $127,000, respectively, of rental charges were included in other
accrued expenses.

For the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Company also incurred approximately $236,000,
$592,000 and $338,000, respectively, of costs for air travel for Company business payable to the entity owned by
the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and his spouse. These costs, which were incurred either directly or
indirectly through expense reimbursements, were charged to the Company on a reimbursement rate basis, in
accordance with FAA expense reimbursement rates. As of December 31, 2002 and 2001 approximately $0 and
$192,000, respectively, of air travel costs were included in other accrued expenses.

During the year ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company incurred $3,170,000* and $1,432,000,
respectively, to a subcontractor for certain outsourcing activities related to its clinical services. The Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company and a member of the Company’s Board of Directors serve on the Board
of Directors of this subcontractor. One of the Company’s Director’s is also the Managing Partner of a venture fund
which is a 52% shareholder of this subcontractor. The Company terminated its relationship with this subcontractor

*This amount was corrected by an Annual Report on Form 10-K/A.
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in October 2002. As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, approximately $426,000 and $644,000, respectively, of
outsourcing activities were included in other accrued expenses.

For the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000, the Company incurred approximately $912,000,
$851,000 and $459,000, respectively, to a third party contractor that provides consultants for computer
programming services. The father of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company was a 43%
shareholder of this contractor; however, during the third quarter of 2002 he divested himself of all such ownership
interest. As of December 31, 2002 and 2001 approximately $89,000 and $200,000, respectively, of consulting costs
were included in other accrued expenses.

17. CUSTOMER AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

For the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company derived approximately 36% and 9% of its revenue from
its two largest customers. In the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company derived approximately 41% and
10% of its revenue from its two largest customers. In the year ended December 31, 2000, the Company derived
approximately 31%, 11% and 10% of its revenues from its three largest customers.

See Note 1 for a brief description of the Company’s business. The Company is organized by geographic
locations and has one reportable segment. All transfers between geographic areas have been eliminated from
consolidated revenues. Operating income consists of total revenues recorded in the location less operating expenses
and does not include interest income, other expense or income taxes. This data is presented in accordance with
SFAS 131, “Disclosure About Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information”.

December 31,

2002 2001 2000
Revenues:
United States ........c.coiiiiviiinniiannn., $178,603,000  $184,749,000  $167,731,000
AllOther .....oiviiiii e 47,153,000 42,613,000 $ 50,328,000
$225,756,000  $227,362,000 218,059,000
Operating (loss) income:
United States ........covinveiieiiinvriarennnnns $ 15,448,000  $(15,868,000) $ 37,255,000
ANl Other ... o 9,279,000 (5,108,000) $ 6,658,000
$ 24,727,000  $(20,976,000) $ 43,913,000
Identifiable assets: ..........coiiiiiiiiiii..n.
United States ......oooiviiiiiiiiiiiiiienans $161,477,000  $145,321,000 $155,843,000
All Other ... ..., 26,999,000 21,162,000 20,060,000
$188,476,000  $166,483,000  $175,903,000

For segment reporting purposes, license revenues have been allocated to the sales office of the respective
country in which the sale is made, although the actual contract is with the U.S. entity for legal and tax purposes.
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Year Ended December 31, 2002:
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Deferred tax valuation allowance

Year Ended December 31, 2001: ...

Allowance for doubtful accounts
Deferred tax valuation allowance

Year Ended December 31, 2000: ..

Allowance for doubtful accounts
Deferred tax valuation allowance

Balance at the

Beginning of the year other accounts from reserves

Additions
charged to
expense or

Deductions

Balance at
the End of the year

$ 736,000
$3,336,000

$ 593,000
$1,171,000

$ 415,000
$1,091,000
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$ 348,000
$1,146,000

$ 180,000
$2,165,000

$ 362,000
$ 169,000

$158,000

$ 37,000

$184,000
$ 89,000

$ 926,000
$4,482,000

$ 736,000
$3,336,000

$ 593,000
$1,171,000
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3. Exhibits:

Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws:

3.1

3.1

3.1

3.1

3.2

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Dendrite International, Inc. (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission™) on August 14, 1996)

(a) Certificate of Amendment to the Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Dendrite International,
Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1(a) to the Company’s Current Report on Form
8-K, filed with the Commission on March 30, 2001)

(b) Certificate of Amendment to the Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Dendrite International,
Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 (b) to the Company’s Current Report on Form
8-K, filed with the Commission on March 30, 2001)

(c) Certificate of Amendment to the Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Dendrite International,
Inc. Setting Forth the Terms of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock (incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 3.1 (c) to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the
Commission on March 30, 2001)

Amended and Restated By-laws of Dendrite International, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on
February 21, 2001)

Instruments Defining Rights of Security Holders, including Indentures:

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

Specimen of Stock Certificate (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed with the Commission on May 17, 1995)

Registration Rights Agreement dated October 2, 1991 between the several purchasers named
therein and the Company (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed with the Commission on May 17, 1995)

Amendment to Registration Rights Agreement dated April 23, 1992 between the Company and the
parties named therein as shareholders of the Company (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
4.3 of Amendment 1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed with the
Commission on May 17, 1995)

Rights Agreement dated as of February 20, 2001 between Dendrite International, Inc. and
Registrar and Transfer Company, as Rights Agent, which includes, as Exhibit A the Form of
Certificate of Amendment to Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as Exhibit B the Form of Rights
Certificate and as Exhibit C the Form of Summary of Rights (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 4 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on

February 21, 2001)

Material Contracts and Compensatory Plans and Arrangements:

10.1

10.2

1992 Stock Plan, as amended (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.36 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed with the Commission on May 17, 1995; Exhibit A to
the Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement for the 1999 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, filed
with the Commission on April 16, 1999; and Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K, filed with the Commission on March 30, 2000)*

1992 Senior Management Incentive Stock Option Plan, as amended (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.37 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed with the
Commission on May 17, 1995; Exhibit B to the Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement for the
1999 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, filed with the Commission on April 16, 1999; and Exhibit
10.2 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the Commission on March 30,
2000)*
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10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

1997 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the Commission on August 14, 1997,
Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, filed with the Commission on
September 16, 1997; Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, filed with
the Commission on November 10, 1997; Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q, filed with the Commission on November 14, 1997; Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-8, filed with the Commission on April 21, 1998; Exhibit A to
the Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement for the 1998 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, filed
with the Commission on April 30, 1998; Appendix A to the Company’s Definitive Proxy
Statement for the 1999 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, filed with the Commission on April 16,
1999; Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the Commission on
March 30, 2000; Appendix A to the Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2000 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders, filed with the Commission on April 17, 2000; Exhibit 4 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, filed with the Commission on October 20, 2000,
and Appendix A to the Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2001 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders, filed with the Commission on April 13, 2001)*

1997 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated herein by reference to; Exhibit 4.2 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, filed with the Commission on April 1, 1997;
Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the Commission on
August 14, 1997; and Exhibit A to the Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement for the 1999 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders, filed with the Commission on April 16, 1999)*

Lease of 1200 Mount Kemble Avenue, Morristown, New Jersey (incorporated herein by reference
to Exhibit 10.40 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed with the Commission
on May 17, 1995)

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, entered into as of November 30, 1998, between the
Company and The Chase Manhattan Bank, N.A. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7
to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the Commission on March 26, 1999)

Employment Agreement dated as of March 25, 1997, between Dendrite International, Inc. and
John E. Bailye (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q/A, filed with the Commission on May 16, 1997)*

Employment Agreement dated as of June 2, 1997, between Dendrite International, Inc. and
George T. Robson (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the Commission on August 14, 1997)%'

Deferred Compensation Plan dated as of September 1, 1998 (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the Commission on
August 14, 1998)*

Deferred Compensation Plan Trust Agreement dated as of September 1, 1998 (incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the
Commission on August 14, 1998)*

Employment Agreement dated as of August 7, 1997, between Dendrite International, Inc. and
Kathleen Donovan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.17 of the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on March 30, 2001)*

Employment Agreement dated as of September 8, 1998, between Dendrite International, Inc. and
Christine Pellizzari (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.18 of the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on March 30, 2001)*

Amendment to Employment Agreement dated as of May 26, 1999, between Dendrite International,
Inc. and George T. Robson (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.22 of the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on March 30, 2001)*'
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10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

Amendment to Employment Agreement dated as of January 25, 2000, between Dendrite
International, Inc. and Kathleen Donovan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.23 of the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on March 30, 2001)*

Amendment to Employment Agreement dated as of August 1, 2000, between Dendrite
International, Inc. and Christine Pellizzari (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.24 of the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on March 30, 2001)*

Employment Agreement dated as of August 7, 2000, between Dendrite International, Inc. and
Marc Kustoff (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.25 of the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on March 30, 2001)*

Agreement of Purchase and Sale between Dendrite International, Inc. and Townsend Property
Trust Limited Partnership dated January 5, 2001 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.26
of the Company’s Current Report on Form §8-K, filed with the Commission on March 30, 2001)*

Deed of Lease between Liberty Property Limited Partnership and Dendrite International, Inc. for
Dendrite Building I of the Liberty Executive Park in Chesapeake, Virginia (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.27 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the
Commission on March 30, 2001)

Deed of Lease between Liberty Property Limited Partnership and Dendrite International, Inc. for
Dendrite Building II of the Liberty Executive Park in Chesapeake, Virginia (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.28 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the
Commission on March 30, 2001)

Employment Agreement (including Amendment), dated as of May 16, 2001, between Dendrite
International, Inc. and Paul Zaffaroni (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.29 of the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on March 19, 2002)*

Indemnification Agreement, dated as of October 1, 2001, between Dendrite International, Inc. and
Paul Zaffaroni (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.30 of the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on March 19, 2002)*

Employment Agreement, dated as of June 19, 1997, between Dendrite International, Inc. and Brent
Cosgrove (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.33 of the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on March 19, 2002)*

Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of November §, 2001, between Dendrite
International, Inc. and Brent Cosgrove (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.34 of the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on March 19, 2002)*

Indemnification Agreement, dated as of November 8, 2001, between Dendrite International, Inc.
and Brent Cosgrove (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.35 of the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on March 19, 2002)*

Agreement of Lease, dated as of February 12, 2001, between SCC II, L.L.C. and Dendrite
International, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.36 of the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on March 19, 2002)

First Amendment to Lease, dated as of August 17, 2001, between 1200 Mount Kemble Limited
Partnership and Dendrite International, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.37 of
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on March 19, 2002)

November 2001 Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of November 6, 2001, between
Dendrite International, Inc. and The Chase Manhattan Bank, N.A. (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.38 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the
Commission on March 19, 2002)

Indemnification Agreement, dated as of October 28, 1998, between Dendrite International, Inc. and
John Bailye (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.39 of the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on March 19, 2002)*
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10.29 Indemnification Agreement, dated as of October 28, 1998, between Dendrite International, Inc. and
George Robson (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.40 of the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on March 19, 2002)"'

10.30 Indemnification Agreement, dated as of January 25, 2001, between Dendrite International, Inc. and
Christine Pellizzari (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.41 of the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on March 19, 2002)*

10.31 Indemnification Agreement, dated as of January 25, 2001, between Dendrite International, Inc. and
Kathleen Donovan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.42 of the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on March 19, 2000)*

10.32 1994 Incentive and Non-Qualified Stock Plan of CorNet International, Ltd. (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S5-8, filed with the
Commission on June 29, 1999)* )

10.33 First Amended SAI Holdings, Inc. Long-Term Incentive Stock Option Plan (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 99.1 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, filed with the
Commission on QOctober 25, 2002)* '

10.34 Dendrite International, Inc. New Hire Option Grant Authorization (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 99.1 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, filed with the
Commission on November 6, 2002)*

10.35 Indemnification Agreement, dated as of April 6, 2001, between Dendrite International, Inc. and
Patrick J. Zenner (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.37 of the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-X, filed with the Commission on March 26, 2003)*

10.36 Retirement Agreement and General Release, dated as of June 30, 2002, between Dendrite
International, Inc. and George Robson (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.38 of the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on March 26, 2003)*l

10.37 November 2002 Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of November 6, 2001, between
Dendrite International, Inc. and The Chase Manhattan Bank, N.A (incorporated herein by reference
to Exhibit 10.39 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on
March 26, 2003)

Subsidiaries:

21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Consent of Independent Auditors:

23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP

23.2 Notice regarding Consent of Arthur Andersen LLP

* Management contract or compensatory plan.

! Ceased as executive officer.
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EXHIBIT 21

SUBSIDIARIES

1 Dendrite Andes (Ecuador)

2 Dendrite Belgium S.A. (Belgium)

3 Dendrite Brasil LTDA (Brazil)

4 Dendrite Canada Company (Nova Scotia, Canada)

5 Dendrite Colombia LTDA (Colombia)

6 Dendrite Deutschland GMBH (Germany)

7 Dendrite France S.A. (France)

8 Dendrite Hungary Software Services, Inc. (Hungary)
9 Dendrite International Services Company (Delaware)
10 Dendrite Italia, S.R.I. (Italy)

11 Dendrite Japan K.K. (Japan)

12 Dendrite Mexico (Mexico)

13 Dendrite Netherlands, B.V. (Netherlands)

14 Dendrite New Zealand Ltd. (New Zealand)

15 Dendrite Portugal (Portugal)

16 Dendrite Pty. Ltd. (Australia)

17 Dendrite U.K. Ltd. (United Kingdom)

18 PharmaVision BV (The Netherlands)

19 SAI Acquisition L.L.C (New Jersey)

71



EXHIBIT 23.1

Consent of Independent Auditors

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements (Form S-8 No. 333-14363; Form
S-8 No. 333-19141; Form S-8 No. 333-24329; Form S-8 No. 333-35701; Form S-8 No. 333-81783; Form S-8 No.
333-92711; Form S-8 No. 333-48376; Form S-8 No. 333-09090; Form S-8 No. 333-09092; Form S-8 No. 333-
11036; Form S-8 No. 333-68218; Form S-8 No. 333-101048; Form S-8 No. 333-100733; Form S-8 No. 333-100730;
Form S-8 No. 333-100729 and Form S-3 No. 333-91449) of Dendrite International, Inc. of our report dated
January 29, 2003, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule of Dendrite
International, Inc. included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

MetroPark, New Jersey
March 25, 2003
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EXHIBIT 23.2

NOTICE REGARDING CONSENT OF ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

Section 11(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), provides that if any part of
a registration statement at the time such part becomes effective contains an untrue statement of a material fact or
an omission to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not
misleading, any person acquiring a security pursuant to such registration statement (unless it is proved that at the
time of such acquisition such person knew of such untruth or omission) may sue, among others, every accountant
who has consented to be named as having prepared or certified any part of the registration statement, or as having
prepared or certified any report or valuation which is used in connection with the registration statement, with respect
to the statement in such registration statement, report or valuation which purports to have been prepared or certified
by the accountant.

This Annual Report on Form 10-K is incorporated by reference into Registration Statement File Nos. 333-
14363, 333-19141, 333-24329, 333-35701, 333-81783, 333-92711, 333-48376, 333-09090, 333-09092, 333-11036,
333-68218, 333-101048, 333-100733, 333-100730, and 333-100729 on Form S-8 (collectively, the “Registration
Statements”) of Dendrite International, Inc. (“Dendrite™) and, for purposes of determining any liability under the
Securities Act, is deemed to be a new registration statement for each Registration Statement into which it is
incorporated by reference.

Following approval of Dendrite’s Board of Directors and its Audit Committee, Dendrite dismissed Arthur
Andersen LLP (“Andersen”) as Dendrite’s independent accountants effective April 4, 2002. See Dendrite’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on April 10, 2002 for more information. After reasonable efforts, Dendrite has been unable
to obtain Andersen’s written consent to the incorporation by reference into the Registration Statements of its audit
reports with respect to Dendrite’s financial statements as of and for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2001 and
2000.

Under these circumstances, Rule 437a under the Securities Act permits Dendrite to file this Form 10-K without
a written consent from Andersen. However, as a result, with respect to transactions in Dendrite securities pursuant
to the Registration Statements that occur subsequent to the date this Annual Report on Form 10-K is filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission, Andersen will not have any liability under Section 11(a) of the Securities
Act for any untrue statements of a material fact contained in the financial statements audited by Andersen or any
omissions of a material fact required to be stated therein. Accordingly, you would be unable to assert a claim against
Andersen under Section 11(a) of the Securities Act because it has not consented to the incorporation by reference
of its previously issued reports into the Registration Statements. To the extent provided in Section 11(b)(3)(C) of
the Securities Act, however, other persons who are liable under Section 11 (a) of the Securities Act, including
Dendrite’s officers and directors, may still rely on Andersen’s original audit reports as being made by an expert
for purposes of establishing a due diligence defense under Section 11(b) of the Securities Act.
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